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lobal expansion is an important part of the John Deere
gwth story. Sales outside of the U.S. and Canada have
2 on a steep rise for some time, topping $5 billion in
04, nearly twice the level of 1999. These operations

ra solidly profitable and are expected to play a major

in Deere's plans for SVA (Shareholder Value

d) growth. Operating profit outside the U.S. ;
‘Canada almost doubled last year, to $621 million.” - =

“John Deere's focus on winning new customers in S o
urope continues to produce solid results. One key Other promising growth areas include India and China,
ason; an expanded and updated product line including where Deere already has a manufacturing and marketing
the highly successful 5020 full-frame tractor, shown here. presence. These countries are also becoming important
sources of compaonents and products such as the value-

Further, Deere is extending its global product platforms priced 5003 tractor, which is being exported to the U.S.

to South America, which is emerging as a particularly

attractive growth area. The company has produced com- tn addition, Deere is the global leader in forestry equip-
bines, tractors and diesel engines in the region for some ment, thanks in part to the success of highly efficient cut-
time and recently broke ground for a new tractor factory to-length technology. About half of Deere's forestry sales
in the state of Rio Grande do Sul in Brazil. are made outside of the U.S. and Canada.

JOHN DEERE MANAGEMENT TEAM. From left: Samuel Allen, David Everitt, James Jenkins, Robert Lane, John Jenkins, Nathan Jones, Pierre Leroy
and H.]. Markley. Shown with the 824] four-wheel-drive loader — the largest, most productive model in the growing John Deere loader line.




CHAIRMAN-'S MESSAGTE

John Deere had a terrific year in 2004, Our actions to build a

great business combined with better market conditions to drive sales

and earnings to record highs. Also of great importance, we contin-
ued to introduce advanced new products and bring the power and
value of the John Deere brand to a growing global audience. These
results are further proof of our success in building a new type of
performance-driven business that’s expected to yield sustainable
improvements well into the future.

For last year, fiscal 2004, Deere reported net income of $1.406
billion on total net sales and revenues of $§19.99 billion. Compared
with 2003, earnings more than doubled on a 29 percent gain in
revenue. In all three of our equipment businesses, sales and profits
reached a record level for the year. In addition, the company
increased the quarterly dividend rate by 27 percent, repurchased
3 million shares, and recently announced plans to buy back up to
$1 billion of Deere stock in the future.

John Deere businesses are establishing a more efficient cost
and asset structure. Since 2001, operating asset turns have more
than doubled, to 2.4 times last year. Equipment operating margins,
which were slightly negative in 2001, neared 11 percent in 2004.
As a result, our equipment operations had OROA, or operating
return on operating assets, of 25.5 percent for the year. On an
enterprise basis, SVA incrcased by over $1 billion last year and was
fully $2 billion above the level of 2001. SVA, or Shareholder Value
Added, is the difference between operating profit and pretax cost
of capital. All of Deere's major business divisions made a positive
contribution to SVA in 2004. (For more on SVA and OROA, see page 8.)

FINANCTIAL H1GHLIGHTS

Aligned Teamwork: Beyand Better Markets

Improved economic conditions aided our performance last year.
But market strength was only part of the story. Our recent success is
also due to a major shift that is taking place in the collective mindset
of our employee and management group. It is based primarily on
improved alignment and.teamwork. Deere employees are aligned
with our business objectives as never before, and are being evaluated
and compensated accordingly.

Alignment in this case takes several forms. Some 18,000 salaried
employees follow performance plans geared to their own responsibili-
ties and development potential. These individually tailored plans,
which reflect the objectives of each business unit and the overall
company, are updated annually and formally reviewed twice a year.
Even John Deere products share in our alignment strategy. Almost
100 product families follow detailed blueprints for reaching our
performance goals and, specifically, for recording SVA-positive
results in all types of markets.

Deere people are united in their pursuit of our goals — and a
new compensation system that became fully effective in 2004
further aligns employee, customer, and investor interests. Yearly
bonus payments for salaried employees are now directly linked to
divisional OROA in the equipment operations and ROE, or return
on equity, in financial services. Further payouts are possible, under
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o D DRIVING GROWTH IN PLANTER SALES IS THE JOHN Deere 1790
’ - PLANTER, EQUIPPED WITH THE NEW PRO-SERIESXP ROW UNIT.
"} 100-BUSHEL CENTRAL COMMODITY SYSTEM CUTS REFILL TIME
IN HALF VERSUS NON-BULK SYSTEMS. PLUS, THE PLANTER FOLDS
TO A COMPACT 12-FOOT WIDTH FOR TRANSPORT.

our medium-term plan, when returns exceed the cost of capital
over a multi—year period. Deere's new compensation program
rewards sustained exceptional performance and exceptional service
to our customers.

As a result, John Deere is well on the way to establishing a
performance-based culture, built on teamwork, which helps leverage

the skills of our people and maximize the performance of our businesses.

Gearing for Global Growth

Deere is stepping up its emphasis on disciplined growth. Specifically,
we are targeting SVA gains of 6to7 percent a year on average over
a cycle. This goal clearly requires increased sales -- and sales that are
likely to take place on an increasingly global stage.

Our focus on winning new customers in Europe is continuing
to produce solid results thanks in large part to an advanced product
line, including the 5020 full-frame tractor. It features large-tractor
technology in a smaller package and has been a real success with
European customers. Deere sales in Europe saw a further increase
last year with notable gains occurring in Spain, England and Russia.

Elsewhere, South America continues to be an important growth
engine for John Deere. Agriculture is growing fast there and Deere
is adding production Capécity to meet the increasing demand for our
farm machinery. We recently broke ground for a new tractor factory
in the southern part of Brazil and are planning initial production in
2006. With this capacity, Deere will be able to produce a higher
volume of tractors and a broader range of models favored by South
American farmers.

Other nations have positive growth potential as well. Deere
already has a manufacturing presence in China and India, both of
which are expected to become important markets, as well as sources
of components and other products. In addition, we're confident that
Eastern Europe, notably Poland, and the former Soviet states through-

out Europe and Asia will continue their growth as important markets.

In support of higher global equipment sales, Deere is building

its financing capacity as well, With a credit presence in 13 countries
outside of the U.S. and Canada, we can finance sales in most every
major market where John Deere products are available. Our interna-
tional portfolio (outside the U.S. and Canada) grew by about 25
percent last year on a constant-exchange basis and now exceeds

$2 billion. Moreover, portfolio quality is high — consistent with

our experience in the U.S,

Winning a Broader Range of Customers

Customer expansion is another cornerstone of our growth strategy.
In the U.S., we’re moving aggressively to expand and upgrade our
product offerings for large property owners, professional landscapers,
commercial mowing businesses, custom spraying and baling operations,
and major construction contractors. On the product side, this focus
is expected to support higher sales of compact tractors, self-propelled
sprayers, commercial mowing equipment and larger models of
construction equipment. We see considerable growth potential in all
these markets. At the same time, we are targeting further gains with
our core farm, construction, forestry, and lawn-care customers.

Growth can take the form of innovative technology and services,
too. Through Deere Ag Management Solutions (AMS), customers
can use global-positioning technology to measure and record harvest
yields, control seeding and spraying application rates, and keep their
equipment on a steady course in the field. Sales of AMS products
doubled last year and are helping farmers get even more value from
their equipment.

Another example of growth built on service is John Deere Land-
scapes, which had higher sales and a further improvement in its finan-
cial results for 2004. Through nearly 250 store locations, this operation
serves the needs of landscape-service professionals with irrigation and
nursery-related supplies.

GROWTH IN SALES OF COMMERCIAL MOWING
EQUIPMENT WAS DRAMATIC LAST YEAR, THANKS
TO PRODUCTS SUCH AS THE JOHN DEERE

797 Z-TRAK MOWER. THE MODEL COMBINES
THE ADVANTAGES OF LARGER MOWING EQUIPMENT
WITH THE AGILITY OF ZERO-TURN TECHNOLOGY.
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Bu”ding a Great Business ’ ' network is unparalleled in providing responsive service support,
Dealers are a big reason so many productive farmers, contractors
and others have joined the ranks of John Deere customers, Qur
products, of course, continue to stand alone in productivity, inno-
vation and value — as the case has been for nearly 170 years.

Even as our drive for growth shifts to a higher gear, Deere is contin-
uing to build on its recent gains in asset management and cost control.
In this respect, our businesses are targeting a 20 percent return on
operating assets at mid-cycle sales in any given year. We are also aiming
for returns equaling our cost of capital at the cycle’s trough. Our actions of recent years have been directed to making John
Deere the business, and John Deere the investment, as well-regarded
as the products themselves. What's more, we've had great success
building a performance-driven culture based on aligned teamwork.
In our eyes, the powerful impact of 46,000 highly committed
employees united in a common cause and moving in a common
direction should not be underestimated.

Asset Management. For some time now, we’ve talked about how our
focus on improved order fulfillment is helping Deere produce more
closely in line with demand at the retail level., Balancing production
with demand is at the heart of our effort to operate with a leaner slate
of assets — and we’ve made a great deal of progress. Trade receivables
and inventories ended 2004 at about the same level as 1998, a year in
which sales were almost $6 billion less. We're proud of the company’s long, distingujshed 11eritage and
appreciative of the employees, past and present, who have created
the solid, value-based foundation on which we are building the future.
Our plans for growing a great business are right on track. And, with

Running with lean assets is one thing; meeting customer needs
is another. We accomplished both in 2004, Despite the rapid shift in
market conditions, Deere was able to work with its agile and committed

. . . . the support of our customers, employees, investors and partners
supply base to secure raw materials as needed, while delivering excep- PP » employees, P ’

we're confident Deere can continue producing strong results in the

tional service to customers. As a result, the company was in position
years ahead.

to fully participate in the strong market upswing now under way.

Cost Management. We're holding the line on costs, too. Cost reduction Sincerely, - December 21, 2004
has become a priority part of new-product development, including a
focus on reduced product complexity. As an example, the redesigned
John Deere 4020 compact tractors came to market with about half as &L/
many part numbers as the previous model and some 85 percent fewer
product configurations. That had a positive effect on manufacturing
costs and simplified asset management. Customers benefited too, as the

- Robert W. Lane
new products included more power, more features and greater value.

Clearly, we’ve made dramatic progress transforming Deere into
a trimmer and more efficient organization. We're well on our way to bet-
ter managing the cyclical impact of our businesses and earning our cost
of capital — achieving positive SVA — in all types of market conditions.

Performance That Endures

Deere has ambitious goals but we also have a formidable array of
assets to help get the job done. Deere people are unmatched in their
commitment and market knowledge, while our worldwide dealer

GROWING GLOBALLY, DEERE'S FORESTRY SALES STAGED
A STRONG INCREASE IN 2004. ONE REASON: PrODUCTS
LIKE THE TIMBERJACK 1470D HARVESTER. 'S AN
INDUSTRY STANDARD IN CUT-TO-LENGTH HARVESTING —
A PROCESS THAT LIMITS WASTE AND MAXIMIZES THE
VALUE OF THE WOOD BEING CUT.




BUILDING A BUSINESS AS GREAT AS OUR PRODUCTS
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2004 Highlights

Deere-enterprise Shareholder Value Added, or SVA, reaches
$1.04 billion for year — more than twice previous (1997) record.
(SVA is operating profit less an implied charge for capital.)

Operating profit surges to $2.38 billion, reflecting record
operating profit in all three equipment divisions.

Performance being aided by a continued focus on asset and
operating efficiency, plus positive customer response to
company products and services.

Equipment operations have Operating Return on Operating
Assets, or OROA, of 25.5% vs. 10.2% in 2003. (Financial
Services ROE is 13.6%.)

Operating margins for equipment operations more than double —
to 10.8% — with help from higher sales and continuing emphasis
on cost management,

Working-capital levels (trade receivables plus company-owned
inventories) continue to move lower in relation to sales.

Asset turns reach 2.4 times — more than twice level of 2001,

2004 Highlights

Credit operations remain strong; net income reaches $306 million.

Managed portfolio grows 13%, to $18.6 billion, with support
from higher retail and revolving-charge balances.

Portfolio quality remains high — write-offs hit lowest point in over
a decade.
Health care has lower net income — $3 million vs. $19 million in
2003 — due in part to higher medical-claims costs.
- Operations play continuing role in delivering quality health
care to many John Deere employees, while restraining
groxwh in employee medical expense.




Agricultural Equipment
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2004 Highlights

C&F sales jump 54% on major increase in customer demand;

operating profit rises more than threefold to new record — $587 million,

Forestry operations experience strong sales gain, extending
Deere's worldwide leadership in cut-to-length technology.

C&F makes further inroads with major construction contractors —

a key customer group accounting for a high percentage of construction- -

equipment sales.

- Deere named manufacturer of year by Peter Kiewit Sons', Inc.,
a leading construction and engineering firm.

New products, as well as a strong dealer network, support "value
proposition” of owning Deere products. Advantages include lower
operating costs, increased uptime and higher productivity.

Commercial & Consumer Equipment
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2004 Highlights

Stronger markets propel 31% sales increase and strong
rise in operating profit, to $1.072 billion.

Operating margin reaches 11% and asset turns increase
to 2.6 times.

Substantial market-share gains made in key categories
such as large tractors and combines.

Sales outside the ULS. and Canada rise strongly, accounting
for almost half of Deere's worldwide farm-machinery total.

Further advances in new products include recently intro-
duced self-propelled sprayers. The 4720 and 4920 models

are Deere's largest and most-productive ever.

Waterloo factory redevelopment proceeds on schedule;
project at company's primary ULS. tractor-production facility
(scheduled for completion in 2006) targets improvements
in cost, quality and asset management.

Construction & Forestry
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2004 Highlights

Positive customer response leads to 16% sales rise; operating
profit reaches record $246 million.

C&CE strengthens product offerings in key markets such as utility
vehicles, commercial mowing products and compact tractors.

Sales of zero-turn-radius mowing products stage strong increase.

New 4020 compact tractor has successful debut. Tractor has far
fewer parts and configurations than previous model and pilots
Deere effort to reduce product complexity.

John Deere Landscapes achieves gains in sales and profit; business
provides irrigation and nursery-related supplies for growing market.




Deere Equipment Operations, to create SVA, are targeting an operating return on average operating assets (OROA) of 20% at mid-cycle sales volumes in any given year —

and other ambitious returns at other points in the cycle. (For purposes of this calculation, operating assets are average identifiable assets during the year with inventories valtied

at standard cost.)
|

Deere Equipment Operations Agricultural Equipment
$MM unless indicated 02 03 04 $MM unless indicated d d u
Net Sales 11703 13349 17673 Nt Sales 6792 7390 s
Op Profit 401 708 1905 . Op Profit 397 329 1072
Avg Assets Avg Assets
With Inventories @ Std Cost 7147 6925 477 With Inventories @ Std Cost 3875 3624 3755
“ With Inventories @ LIFQ 6229 5965 £482 With Inventories @ LIFO 3308 3028 3128
OR0A % @ LIFD ‘ 64 ARIK 294 OROA % @ LIF 120 108 3
Asset Turns {Std Cost) 164 1.93 236 Asset Turns (Std Cost) 175 204 258
Op Margin % x3.4 x5.3 x10.8 Op Margin % x5.8 X 4.45 x11.0
OROA % @ Standard Cost 56 102 255 OROA % @ Standard Cost 10.2 91 285
SMM . 02 03 04
SMiv ‘ 02 03 04 Avg Assets @ Std Cost 3875 3624 3755
Avg Assets @ Std Cost 47 6925 7477 ‘ 0p Profit 397 329 1072
Op Profit 401 708 1905 Cost of Assets - 466 - - 435 - 450
Cost of Assets - 858 - 831 - 897 SVA (69} (106) 622
SVA {a57) (123) 1008
|
|
|
SVA: Focusing on GROWTH & SUSTAINABLE PERFORMANCE Construction & Forestry
i
Shareholder Value Added (SVA) — essentially, the difference between operating profit $MM unless indicated 02 03 04
and pretax cost of.capital - is‘a metric used by John Deere to evaluate business results Net Sales 2199 2128 21
and measure sustainable perfo‘rma.nce. Op Profit 75) 152 587
.. s . Avg Assets
—_ 0,
In arrlvmg'at S\{A, each eqmament segm.ent. is assessed a pretax cost of assets — 12% With Inventories @ Std Cost 1606 1607 2015
of average identifiable operating assets with inventory at standard cost. (Standard cost With Inventaries @ LIFO 1445 1451 1863
approximates FIFO.) Each financial-services business (credit and health care) is assessed OROA % @ LIFO (5.2} 105 315
a cost of equity — approximately 18% to 19% pretax on a blended basis. The amount of | Asset Turns {Std Cost) g7 170 2.09
SVA is determined by deducting the asset or equity charge from operating profit. | Op Margin % x {3.4) x56 x 13.9
Additional information ‘on these tetrics and their relationship to amounts presented in accordance OROA % @ Standard Cost an 85 1
with GAAP can bejbund at our Web site, www._JohnDeere.com .
SMM 02 03 04
Avg Assets @ Std Cost 1606 1607 2015
Financial Services ‘ Op Profit (75) 152 587
Cost of Assets - 192 -193 -242
$MM unless indicated ’ 02 ’ 03 04 SVA (267) @ Py
Net Income 262 330 309
Avg Equity 2115 0 2265
ROE % : 124 15.2 136
Commercial & Consumer Equipment
MM \
§ b » % $MM unless indicated 02 03 04
Qp Profit 416 504 4n
Change in Allawance Net Sal.es 22 3231 3742
For Doubtfu! Receivables 16 17 {8) Op Profit 8 227 246
SVA Income 432 521 483 Avg Assets
Avg Equity 2115 Hnn 2265 With Inventories @ Std Cost 1666 1694 1707
Avg Allowance With Inventories @ LIFQ 1478 1486 1481
For Doubtful Receivables 161 160 165 ORDA % @ LIFO 5.4 15.3 16.5
SVA Avg Equity ‘ 218 z3 wh Asset Turns (Std Cost} 183 191 219
| SVA Income i 432 521 463 } Op Margin % x2.9 x7.0 X 6.57
 Costof Equity ! il 8 s ORDA % @ Standard Cost 47 134 144
. SVA . | (5 90 33
SMM 02 03 04
Deere Financial Serviées, ta create $F4, are targeting an c_zfter—tax return on averdge equity 9‘15%. Avg Assets @ Std Cost 1666 1694 1707
The Financiel Services SVA metric Is calenlated on a prerax basis, with certain adjustments. Operating Op Prafit 19 ‘2 27 e MZZG ‘
ngﬁt is adjusted for changes in the allowance for doubtful receivables, while the actual allowance is added Cost of Assets - 200 . 203 -205
to the equity base. These adjustments are made to reflect actual write-offs in both income and equity. SVA (121} 2 ) 3
8
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MANAGEMENT’S DESCPSSION AND ANALYSIS

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE YEARS ENDED
OCTOBER 31, 2004, 2003 AND 2002

CVERVIEW

Organization

The company’s Equipment Operations primarily generate
revenues and cash from the sale of equipment to John Deere
dealers and distributors. The Equipment Operations manufacture
and distribute a full line of agricultural equipment; a variety of
commercial and consumer equipment; and a broad range of
equipment for construction and forestry. The company’s
Financial Services primarily provide credit services and managed
health care plans. The credit operations primarily finance sales and
leases of equipment by John Deere dealers and trade receivables
purchased from the Equipment Operations. The health care
operations provide managed health care services for the company
and certain outside customers. The information in the following
discussion is presented in a format that includes information
grouped as the Equipment Operations, Financial Services and
consolidated. The company also views its operations as consisting
of two geographic areas, the U.S. and Canada, and outside the
US. and Canada.

Trends and Economic Conditions

The company’s businesses are currently affected by the following
key trends and economic conditions. Farmers are benefiting from
record production of corn and soybeans, strong livestock and dairy
sectors, and government payments that are expected to increase
substantially in 2005. As a result, U.S. farm cash receipts are
forecast to be about the same in 2005 as the record level in 2004.
The company’s agricultural equipment sales were up 31 percent
for 2004 and are forecast to be up approximately 2 to 5 percent
in 2005. The company’s commercial and consumer equipment
sales increased 16 percent in 2004 and are expected to increase
approximately 2 to 5 percent in 2005 due to new products and
higher sales of commercial mowing equipment. Construction and
forestry markets are expected to be supported in 2005 by moderate
economic growth, relatively low interest rates and a favorable level
of housing starts. The corhpany’s construction and forestry sales
increased 54 percent in 2004 and are forecast to increase 6 to 9
percent in 2005. Although the credit operations are expected to
benefit from further growth in the loan portfolio, net income

for 2005 is forecast to be idown due to increased leverage in the
portfolio. The credit operations are expected to report net income
of approximately $280 million for the year. The health care
operations expect net income to increase to about $15 million
for 2003 as a result of an improved underwriting margin.

Items of concern include the availability and price of raw
materials, including steel and rubber, which have an impact on
results of the company’s Equipment Operations. To date, company
factories have been able to secure adequate supplies of such
materials though prices have risen. In addition, producing engines
that continue to meet high performance standards, yet also comply
with increasingly stringent emissions regulations, is one of the
company’s major priorities. In this regard, the company is making
and intends to continue to make the financial and technical
investment needed to produce engines in conformance with

the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Tier 3 and Tier 4
emissions rules for off-road diesel engines.

Stronger market conditions, combined with a focus on
building a better business, have been responsible for much of
the company’s success this year. The company’s asset management
efforts are continuing to yield positive results, especially in light
of the strong increase in sales. Beyond the ongoing impact of
the company’s business improvement efforts, a positive customer
response to the company’s products is expected to continue
driving performance in 2005.

2004 COMPARED WiTH 2003
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

~ Worldwide net income in 2004 was $1,406 million, or $5.56 per
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share diluted (85.69 basic), compared with $643 million, or $2.64
per share diluted ($2.68 basic), in 2003. Net sales and revenues
increased 29 percent to $19,986 million in 2004, compared with
$15,535 mullion in 2003. Net sales of the Equipment Operations
increased 32 percent in 2004 to $17,673 million from $13,349
million last year, Net sales increased primarily due to higher
shipments. Net sales in the U.S. and Canada rose 33 percent

in 2004. Outside the U.S. and Canada, net sales increased by

20 percent for the year, excluding currency translation, and by
30 percent on a reported basis.

Worldwide Equipment Operations, which exclude
the Financial Services operations, had an operating profit of
$1,905 million in 2004, compared with $708 mullion in 2003.
Operating profit increased primarily due to increased shipments
and price realization. The increase in operating profit was partially
offset by a larger provision for employee bonuses and higher
raw material costs. The larger provision for bonuses was driven
by the strong performance in the Equipment Operations.

The Equipment Operations’ net income was $1,097 million
in 2004, compared with $305 million in 2003. The same operating
factors mentioned above affected these results. In addition, this year’s
results benefited from a lower effective tax rate and a decrease in
interest expense.

Net income of the company’s Financial Services operations
in 2004 was $309 million, compared with $330 million in 2003.
The decrease was primarily due to higher administrative costs,
lower credit margins and increased medical claims costs.
Additional information 1s presented in the following discussion
of the credit and “Other” operations.

The cost of sales to net sales ratio for 2004 was 76.8 percent,
compared to 80.5 percent last year. The decrease in the ratio was
primarily due to manufacturing efficiencies related to higher
production and sales, and improved price realization. Pardally off-
setting these factors were the higher employee performance bonus
provision and increased costs for raw material, such as steel
and rubber.

Finance and interest income decreased this year primarily
due to a decrease in rental income on operating leases and lower
average finance rates. Health care premiums and fees increased,
compared to last year, primarily due to higher insured enrollment,
while health care claims and costs increased primarily due te
higher medical costs and an increase in enrollment. Other income




increased this year primarily due to service income related to
Nortrax, Inc., Nortrax Investments, Inc. and Ontrac Holdings, Inc.
(collectively called Nortrax), which were consolidated in 2004,
and a gain from the sale of the company’s 49 percent ownership
in Sunstate Equipment Co., LLC, an equipment rental company.
Selling, administrative and general expenses were higher this year
primarily due to a higher employee performance bonus provision,
the consolidation of Nortrax and foreign currency exchange rate
effects. Other operating expenses increased primarily as a result of
the consolidation of Nortrax and an increase in service expense.

The company has several defined benefit pension plans and
defined benefit health care and life insurance plans. The company’s
postretirement benefit costs for these plans in 2004 were $596
million, compared to $593 million in 2003. The long-term
expected return on plan assets, which is reflected in these costs,
was an expected gain of 8.5 percent in both years, or $671 million
in 2004, compared to $597 mullion in 2003. The actual return on
postretirement benefit plan assets was a gain of $654 million in
2004, compared to a gain of §1,050 million in 2003. In 2005,
the long-term expected return will continue to be 8.5 percent.
The total unrecognized losses related to the postretirement benefit
plans at October 31, 2004 and 2003 were $5,149 million and
$4,794 mullion, respectively. The company expects the increase
in postretirement benefit costs in 2005 to be approximately
$40 nullion pretax, compared with 2004, caused by amortization
of unrecognized losses primarily as a result of a decrease in the
discount rate assumption and prior years’ asset losses. The company
makes any required contributions to the postretirement benefit
plan assets under applicable regulations and voluntary contributions
from time to time based on the company’s liquidity and ability to
make tax-deductible contributions. Total company contributions
to the plans were $1,852 million in 2004 and $745 million in
2003, which include direct benefit payments for unfunded plans.
These contributions also included voluntary contributions to the
US. postretirement benefit plan assets of $1,551 mullion in 2004
and $475 million in 2003. Total company contributions in 2005
are expected to be approximately $810 million, including voluntary
contributions to U.S. postretirement plan assets of approximately
$500 muillion. See the following discussion of “Critical Accounting
Policies” for postretirement benefit obligations.

BUSINESS SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC AREA RESULTS

The following discussion relates to operating results by reportable
segment and geographic area. Operating profit is income before
external interest expense, certain foreign exchange gains or losses,
income taxes and corporate expenses. However, operating profit
of the credit segment includes the effect of interest expense and
foreign exchange gains or losses.

Beginning in fiscal 2004, the special technologies group’s
results were transferred from the “Other” segment to the
agricultural equipment segment due to changes in internal
- reporting. As a result, the 2003 and 2002 results for the agricultural
equipment and “Other” segment were restated for net sales of
$41 million and $54 million and operating losses of $8 million
. and $42 million, respectively, related to the special technologies
group. This had no effect on total net sales and operating profit.
The “Other” segment now represents primarily the health care
operations along with certain miscellaneous service operations

added in 2004.
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Worldwide Agricultural Equipment Operations

The agricultural equipment segment had an operating profit

of $1,072 million in 2004, compared with $329 million in 2003.
Net sales increased 31 percent this year primarily due to higher
shipments, reflecting strong retail demand, as well as the
translation effect of exchange rates and improved price realization.
The operating profit improvement was primarily due to higher
worldwide sales, efficiencies related to stronger production volurmes,
and improved price realization. Offsetting these factors were the
higher provision for performance bonuses and increased raw
material costs.

Worldwide Commercial and Consumer Eguipment Operations
The commercial and consumer equipment segment had an
operating profit of $246 million, compared with $227 million
in 2003. Net sales increased 16 percent for the year primarily
due to higher volumes. The improved operating profit was
primarily due to higher sales and production volumes.”
Partially offsetting these factors were an increase in the
performance bonus provision in addition to higher costs for
freight and raw materials.

Worldwide Construction and Forestry Operations

The construction and forestry segment had an operating profit

of $587 million in 2004, compared with $152 million in 2003.
Sales increased 54 percent for the year. The increase in sales was
primarily due to higher volumes. The operating profit improvement
was primarily due to higher sales, efficiencies related to stronger
production volumes, and improved price realization. Partially off-
setting these factors were a larger performance bonus provision and
higher raw material costs. The results also included a $30 million
pretax gain from the sale of an equipment rental company.

Worldwide Credit Operations

The operating profit of the credit operations was $466 million

in 2004, compared with $474 million in 2003. Operating profit
in 2004 was lower than last year due primarily to higher adminis-
trative costs, partly related to a higher provision for performance
bonuses in connection with the overall company profitability,
and lower margins. Partially offsetting these factors was a lower
provision for credit losses, reflecting solid portfolio quality.

Total revenues of the credit operations decreased 4 percent in
2004, primarily reflecting lower rental income from operating
leases related to the lower level of leases, and lower average finance
rates. The average balance of receivables and leases financed was

2 percent higher in 2004, compared with 2003. A decrease in
funding rates in 2004 resulted in a 3 percent decrease in interest
expense, compared with 2003. The credit operations’ ratio of
earnings to fixed charges was 2.12 to 1 1n 2004, compared to
2.07 to 1 in 2003.

Worldwide Other Gperations

The company’s other operations,which consisted primarily of the
health care operations, had an operating profit of $5 million 1n 2004,
compared with $30 million last year. The decrease was primarily
due to increased medical claims costs and a higher performance
bonus provision related to overall company profitability.



Equipment Operations in U.S. and Canada

The equipment operations in the U.S. and Canada had an
operating profit of $1,284 million in 2004, compared with

$386 million in 2003.The increase was primarily due to higher
sales, efficiencies related to stronger production volumes and
improved price realization. Partially offsetting these items was

a higher provision for performance bonuses and increased raw
material costs. Sales increased primarily due to higher shipments,
reflecting strong retail demand, as well as improved price
realization. Sales increased 33 percent in 2004 while the physical
volume of sales increased 30 percent, compared to 2003.

Equipment Operations outside U.S. and Canada

The equipment operations outside the U.S. and Canada had an
operating profit of $621 million in 2004, compared with $322
million in 2003. The increase was primarily due to higher sales and
production volumes of agricultural equipment. Partially offsetting
these factors were higher expenses related to stronger foreign
exchange rates and an increased provision for performance bonuses.
Sales increased mainly from higher volumes, as well as the effect
of stronger foreign exchange rates and improvements in price
realization. Sales were 30'percent higher than last year, while the
physical volume of sales increased 16 percent in 2004, compared
with 2003, '

MARKET CONDITIONS AND OUTLOOK _

As a result of the factors and conditions outlined below, company
equipment sales for 2003 are expected to increase by 2 to 7
percent with net income forecast to be approximately $1.5 billion.
First-quarter equipment sales in 2005 are currently forecast to be
up 20 to 25 percent in comparison with the same period in 2004.
Production levels are expected to increase by 11 to 13 percent for
the first quarter of 2005, compared to the same period in 2004.
Consolidated net income for the first quarter of 2005 is forecast
to be in a range of $200 million to $225 million.

Agricultural Equipment: On a worldwide basis, sales of the
company’s agricultural equipment are forecast to be up 2 to 5
percent for the year. Despite a downturn in commodity prices,
U.S. farmers are benefiting from record production of corn and
soybeans. In addition, the livestock and dairy sectors are strong
and government payments are expected to increase substantially
in 2005. As a result, U.S. farm cash receipts are forecast to be about
the same in 2005 as the record level in 2004. Given these conditions,
the company expects industry retail sales in the U.S. and Canada
to be up about 5 percent for fiscal 2005 in comparison with the
very strong levels of 2004.

In other parts of the world, industry retail sales in Western
Europe are forecast to be flat to down 5 percent in 2005. Farmers in
the region have benefited from a good harvest this fall; however,
they are expected to see littde change in income as a result of lower
grain prices, higher input costs and flat government-support
payments. In South America, industry sales are forecast to be down
10 to 20 percent on the basis of lower commodity prices, increased
input costs and a weaker U.S. dollar.

Commercial and Consumer Equipment: Sales of the
company’s commercial and consumer equipment are expected
to increase 2 to 5 percent in 2005 with help from new models
of compact tractors, an updated utility-vehicle line, and higher
sales of commercial mowing equipment.
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Construction and Forestry: Markets are expected to be
supported in 2005 by moderate economic growth, relatively

low interest rates and a favorable level of housing starts. In this
environment, sales of construction and forestry equipment are
expected to see further growth as contractors and rental operations
continue to replenish their fleets. As a result, segment sales are
forecast to be up about 6 to 9 percent for the vyear.

Financial Services: Although the credit operations are expected
to benefit from further growth in the loan portfolio, net income
for 2005 is forecast to be down primarily due to increased leverage
in the portfolio. The credit operations are expected to report net
income of around $280 million for the year. In its health care
operations, the company expects net income of about $15 million
for 2005 as a result of an improved underwriting margin.

SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT

Safe Hatbor Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995: Statements under “Market Conditions and Outlook,”
and other statements herein that relate to future operating periods
are subject to important risks and uncertainties that could cause
actual results to differ materially. Some of these risks and
uncertainties could affect particular lines of business, while others
could affect all of the company’s businesses.

Forward looking statements involve certain factors that
are subject to change, including for the company’s agricultural
equipment segment the many interrelated factors that affect
farmers’ confidence, including worldwide demand for agriculeural
products, world grain stocks, the growth of non-food uses for
some crops, prices realized for commodities and livestock, crop
production expenses (most notably fuel and fertilizer costs),
weather and soil conditions, real estate values, available acreage
for farming, the land ownership policies of various governmuents,
the level, complexity and distribution of government farm
programs, international reaction to such programs, ammal diseases
(including bovine spongiform encephalopathy, commonly known
as “mad cow” disease), crop pests and diseases {including Asian
rust), harvest yields, availability of transport for crops and the level
of farm product exports (including concerns about genetically
modified organisms).

Factors affecting the outlook for the company’s commercial
and consumer equipment segment include general economic
conditions in these markets, consumer confidence, consumer
borrowing patterns, consumer purchasing preferences, housing
starts, spending on behalf of municipalities and golf courses,
and weather conditions.

The number of housing starts, interest rates and constumer
spending patterns are especially important to sales of the company’s
construction equipment. The levels of public and non-residential
construction also impact the results of the company’s construction
and forestry segment. Prices for pulp, lamber and structural panels
are important to sales of forestry equipment. A

All of the company’s businesses and its reported results
are affected by general economic conditions in and the political
stability of global markets in which the company operates;
production and technological difficulties, including capacity and
supply constraints, and prices, including supply commodities
such as steel and rubber; oil and energy prices and supplies;
the availability and cost of freight; monetary and fiscal policies



of various countries, wars and other international conflicts and
the threat thereof; actions by the U.S. Federal Reserve Board and
other central banks; actions by the US. Securities and Exchange
Commussion; actions by environmental regulatory agencies,
including those related to engine emissions and the risk of global
warnung; actions by other regulatory bodies; actions by rating
agencies; capital market disruptions; investor sentiment; inflation
and deflation rates, interest rate levels and currency exchange rates;
customer borrowing and repayment practices, and the number of
customer loan delinquencies and defaults; actions of competitors
in the various industries in which the company competes,
particularly price discounting; dealer practices especially as to
levels of new and used field inventories; labor relations; changes to
accounting standards; the effects of terrorism and the response
thereto; and legislation affecting the sectors in which the company
operates. Company results are also affected by changes in market
values of investment assets and the level of interest rates, which
impact postretirement benefit costs, and significant changes in
health care costs.

The company’s outlook is based upon assumptions relating
to the factors described above, which are sometimes based upon
estimates and data prepared by government agencies. Such estimates
and data are often revised. The company, however, undertakes no
obligation to update or revise its outlook, whether as a result of
new developments or otherwise. Further information concerning
the company and its businesses, including factors that potentially
could materially affect the company’ financial results, is included
in other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

2003 COMPARED WITH 2002

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Worldwide net income in 2003 was $643 million, or $2.64 per
share diluted ($2.68 basic), compared with $319 million, or $1.33
per share diluted ($1.34 basic), in 2002. The success of new
products and ongoing efforts to manage costs and asset intensity
were evident in the results for. 2003. Improved market conditions
also contributed to the stronger performance of the company’s
construction and forestry and commercial and consumer
equipment segments. Additionally, as a result of disciplined asset
management, trade receivables ended 2003 at their lowest level
m more than a decade.

Net sales and revenues increased 11 percent to $15,535 million

in 2003, compared with $13,947 million in 2002. Net sales of the
Equipment Operations increased 14 percent in 2003 to $13,349
million from $11,703 million in 2002. Net sales increased primarily
due to higher physical volumes of commercial and consumer
equipment and construction and forestry equipment. In addition,
the increase was due to the translation effect of stronger foreign
currency exchange rates and improved price realization. Net sales
outside the U.S. and Canada increased 17 percent in 2003.
Excluding the impact of changes in currency exchange rates,
these sales were up 5 percent for 2003.

Worldwide Equipment Operations, which exclude the
Financial Services operations, had an operating profit of
$708 million in 2003, compared with $401 million in 2002.
Operating profit increased primarily due to improved price
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realization and a higher physical volume of sales. Partially offsetting
these factors were an increase in postretirement benefit costs of
$306 million in 2003. The results in 2002 were negatively affected
by the costs of closing certain facilities and higher costs associated
with the company’s minority investments in Nortrax. During 2004,
the company acquired a majority interest in Nortrax and it was
consolidated.

The Equipment Operations’ net income was $305 muillion
in 2003, compared with $78 million in 2002. The same operating
factors mentioned above affected these results. In addition, results
for 2002 were negatively impacted by a higher effective tax rate.

Net income of the company’s Financial Services operations
in 2003 was $330 million, compared with $262 million in 2002. |
The increase was primarily due to lower loan losses, growth in
the portfolio and the absence of losses from Argentina related to
the peso devaluation in 2002. Additional information is presented
in the following discussion of the credit operations.

The cost of sales to net sales ratio for 2003 was 80.5 percent,
compared to 82.0 percent in 2002. The decrease in the ratio was
primarily due to improved price realization, higher production

~volumes, the discontinuance of the amortization of goodwill,

and costs in 2002 from closing certain facilities along with higher
costs related to Nortrax. These improvements were partially offset
by higher postretirement benefit costs in 2003.

Finance and interest income decreased in 2003 primarily -
due to a decrease in rental income on operating leases caused
by a lower level of leases. Health care premiums and fees and
related health care claims and costs increased, compared to 2002,
primarily due to higher enrollment. Other income decreased in
2003 primarily related to a lower volume of retail notes sold.
Research and development costs increased in 2003 due to the
higher level of new product development and exchange rate
fluctuations. Selling, administrative and general expenses were
higher in 2003 primarily due to higher expenses for employee
postretirement benefits, exchange rate fluctuations and increased
promotional and support costs for new products. Other operating
expenses decreased primarily as a result of lower depreciation on
operating leases in 2003 due to a lower level of leases, and the
absence of losses in 2002 from the Argentine operations related
to the peso devaluation. Equity income (loss) of unconsolidated
affiliates improved in 2003 primarily due to the results of the
Deere-Hitachi Construction Machinery Corporation and Nortrax.

The company’s postretirement benefit costs in 2003 were
$593 mullion, compared to $279 million in 2002. The long-term
expected return on plan assets, which is reflected in these costs,
was an expected gain of 8.5 percent, or $597 million, in 2003,
compared to 9.7 percent, or $663 million, in 2002. The actual
return on postretirement benefit plan assets was a gain of $1,050
million in 2003, compared to a loss of $522 mullion in 2002.
The total unrecognized losses related to the postretirement benefit
plans at October 31, 2003 was $4,794 million. Total company

-contributions to the plans were $745 million in 2003 and

$228 mullion in 2002, which include direct benefit payments

for unfunded plans. The contributions in 2003 included a $475
million voluntary contribution to the U.S. postretirement benefit
plan assets. No voluntary contribution was made in 2002.




See the following discussion of “Critical Accounting Policies”
for postretirement benefit obligations.

The annual pretax increase in earnings and cash flows from
the restructurings in 2001 and 2002 have been approximately
$100 mullion as expected. The restructurings primarily have
reduced cost of sales by approximately $300 million and selling,
administrative and general expenses by $30 million, partially offset
by a reduction in sales of '$230 million.

BUSINESS SEGMENT RESULTS

The agriculture equipment and the “Other” segment discussed
below were restated in 2003 and 2002 for the transter of the
special technologies group from the “Other” segment to the
agricultural equipment segment (see previous segment discussion
tor “2004 Compared with 2003™).

Worldwide Agricultural Equipment Operations

The agricultural equipment segment had an operating profit
of $329 million in 2003, compared with $397 nullion in 2002.
Net sales increased 9 percent in 2003 due to the translation
effect of stronger exchange rates and improved price realization.
The production volumes and physical volume of sales were
approximately equal to 2002. The lower operating profit was
primarily due to higher postretirement benefit costs of $216
million, higher compensation to the credit operations for
financing trade receivables and one-time labor agreement
ratification costs. Offsetting these factors was the impact of
improved price realization.

Worldwide Commercial and Consumer Equipment Operations
The commercial and consumer equipment segment had an
operating profit of $227 miillion in 2003, compared with $79 million
n 2002. Net sales increased 19 percent in 2003, primarily due to
strong retail demand for recently introduced products and the
impact of expanded distribution channels. The improved operating
profit was primarily due to higher sales and production volumes.
Partially offsettirig these factors were higher promotional and
support costs related to new products, as well as higher postretire-
ment benefit costs of $31 million. Results in 2002 were also
negatively affected by restructuring costs related to the closure

of certain facilities.

Worldwide Gonstruction and Forestry Operations

The construction and forestry segment had an operating profit
of $152 million in 2003, compared with an operating loss of

* $75 million in 2002. Sales increased 24 percent in 2003.

The increase was primarily due to higher physical volumes,
reflecting improved retail activity. The operating profit improve-
ment was primarily due to higher sales and production volumes.
Improved price realization also had a favorable impact on the
results for 2003. Partially offsetting these factors were higher
postretirement benefit costs of $59 million. The results in 2002
were negatively affected by higher costs related to the company’s
investment in Nortrax and the costs for a factory closing.

Worldwide Credit Operations

The operating profit of the credit operations was $474 million in
2003, compared with $386 million in 2002. Operating profit in
2003 was higher than in 2002 due primarily to lower loan losses,
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growth in the portfolio and the absence of losses in Argentina
related to the peso devaluation, partially offset by narrower
financing spreads, lower gains from a lower volume of retail

note sales and higher selling, administrative and general expenses.
Total revenues of the credit operations decreased 2 percent in
2003, primarily reflecting lower rental income from operating
leases related to the lower level of leases, and a decrease in gains
on a lower volume of retail note sales. The average balance of
receivables and leases financed was 12 percent higher in 2003,
compared with 2002, primarily due to the increased level of
trade receivables. A decrease in financing rates, primarily offset by
an increase in average borrowings in 2003, resulted in a 1 percent
decrease in interest expense, compared with 2002. The credit
operations’ ratio of earnings to fixed charges was 2.07 to 1 in 2003,
compared to 1.85 to 1 in 2002.

Worldwide Other Operations

The company’s other operations, which consisted of the health
care operations, had an operating profit of $30 million in 2003
and 2002.

FASB STATEMENT NO. 142

In 2003, the company adopted FASB Statement No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. In accordance with this
Statement, the company did not amortize goodwill related to
new acquisitions made after June 30, 2001 and discontinued
amortizing goodwill for prior acquisitions as of November 1, 2002.
Based on the new standard, goodwill will be written down only
for impairments. In 2002, the company had goodwill amortization
of $58 million pretax (§53 million after-tax).

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

The discussion of capital resources and liquidity has been
organized to review separately, where appropriate, the compzny’s
Equipment Operations, Financial Services operations and the
consolidated totals.

EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS

The company’s equipment businesses are capital intensive and are
subject to large seasonal variations in financing requirements for
inventories and certain receivables from dealers. The Equipment
Operations sell most of their trade receivables to the compariy’s
credit operations. As a result, the seasonal variations in financing
requirements of the Equipment Operations have decreased. To the
extent necessary, funds provided from operations are supplemented
by external financing sources.

Cash provided by operating activities during 2004 was
$1,383 million primarily due to net income adjusted for non-cash
provisions, and an increase in accounts payable and accrued
expenses, which were partially offset by a cash outflow for
voluntary contributions to U.S. employee postretirement benefit
plans of $1,551 million ($475 million last year) along with an
increase in inventories and trade receivables. The operating cash -
flows, a decrease in cash and cash equivalents of $1,148 mullion,
the proceeds from the issuance of common stock of $251 million
(which were the result of the exercise of stock options) and proceeds
from sales of businesses of $90 million were used primarily to
increase receivables from Financial Services by $1,656 million,




fund purchases of property and equipment of $§346 million,
decrease borrowings by $320 million, pay dividends to stockholders
of $247 million, acquire businesses for $193 million and repurchase
conunon stock for $193 million.

Over the last three years, operating activities have provided
an aggregate of §3,974 million in cash. In addition, proceeds from
the issuance of common stock were $473 million and the sales of
businesses were $166 million. The aggregate amount of these cash
flows was used mainly to increase receivables from Financial Services
by $1,576 million, fund purchases of property and equipment of
$1,004 mullion, stockholders’ dividends of $666 million, acquisitions
of businesses for $213 million and repurchases of common
stock for $195 million. Cash and cash equivalents also increased
$1,041 nullion over the three-year period.

Trade receivables held by the Equipment Operations
increased by $135 mullion during 2004. During this time period,
the Equipment Operations sold most of its trade receivables to
the credit operations (see following consolidated discussion).

Inventories increased by $633 million 1n 2004. Most of these
inventories are valued on the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method.
The ratios of inventories on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis,
which approximates current cost, to fiscal year cost of sales were
22 percent at QOctober 31, 2004, and 2003.

Total interest-bearing debt of the Equipment Operations
was $3,040 million at the end of 2004, compared with $3,304
million at the end of 2003 and $3,387 million at the end of 2002.
The ratio of total debt to total capital (total interest-bearing debt
and stockholders’ equity) at the end of 2004, 2003 and 2002 was
32 percent, 45 percent and 52 percent, respectively.

During 2004, the Equipment Operations retired $250 million
of 6.55% notes and other long-term borrowings of $17 million.

Capital expenditures for the Equipment Operations in 2005
are estimated to be approximately $480 million.

FINANCIAL SERVICES

The Financial Services’ credit operations rely on their ability to
raise substantial amounts of funds to finance their receivable and
lease portfolios. Their primary sources of funds for this purpose are
a combination of borrowings and equity capital. Additionally, the
credit operations periodically sell substantial amounts of retail notes.

Cash flows from the company’s Financial Services operating
activities were $653 million in 2004. Cash provided by financing
activities totaled $664 million in 2004, representing a $1,264 million
increase in borrowings from the Equipment Operations and a
$134 million increase in Jong-term borrowings, partially offset by
a $293 million decrease in short-term borrowings and the payment
of $444 million of dividends to the Equipment Operations.

The cash provided by operating and financing activities was used
primarily to increase receivables. Cash used by investing activities
totaled $1,437 million in 2004, primarily due to receivable
acquisitions exceeding collections by $3,849 million, partially
offset by sales of receivables of $2,334 million. Cash and cash
equivalents also decreased $109 million.

Over the last three years, the Financial Services operating
activities have provided $2,118 million in cash. In addition, the
sale of recetvables of $7,242 million, an increase in borrowings
of $752 million and the sale of equipment on operating leases

of $1,452 million have provided cash inflows. These amounts
have been used mainly to fund receivable and lease acquisitions,
which exceeded collections by $10,857 million, and dividends
to the Equipment Operations of $1,092 million. Cash and cash
equivalents also decreased $309 million over the three-year period.
Recetvables and leases increased by $1,662 million in 2004,
compared with 2003. Acquisition volumes of receivables and leases
increased 26 percent in 2004, compared with 2003. The volumes
of trade receivables, leases, wholesale notes, retail notes, operating
loans and revolving charge accounts increased approximately
37 percent, 23 percent, 22 percent, 17 percent, 16 percent and
10 percent, respectively. The credit operations also sold retail notes
receiving proceeds of $2,334 nullion during 2004, compared
with $1,941 million in 2003. At October 31, 2004 and 2003, net
receivables and leases administered, which include receivables and
leases previously sold but still administered, were $18,620 million
and $16,476 million, respectively.
Trade receivables held by the credit operations increased
by $487 million in 2004 (see following consolidated discussion).
Total external interest-bearing debt of the credit operations
was $11,508 million at the end of 2004, compared with $11,447
million at the end of 2003.and $10,001 million at the end of 2002.

* Total external borrowings have inicreased generally corresponding

with the level of the receivable and lease portfolio, the level of
cash and cash equivalents and the change in payables owed to
the Equipment Operations. The credit subsidiaries’ ratio of total
interest-bearing debt to total stockholder’s equity was 6.4 to 1
at the end of 2004 and 5.6 to 1 at the end of 2003 and 2002.
During 2004, the credit operations redeemed $150 million of
8-5/8% subordinated debentures due August 2019. The redemption
price was equal to the par value plus accrued interest. The credit
operations also issued $2,179 million and retired $1,895 million
of other long-term borrowings during the year, which were
primarily medium-term notes.

CONSOLIDATED
Sources of liquidity for the company include cash and short-term
investments, funds from operations, the issuance of commercial
paper and term debt, the securitization and sale of retail notes,
and committed and uncommitted, unsecured, bank lines of credit.
Because of the multiple funding sources that have been and
continue to be available to the company, the company expects
to have sufficient sources of liquidity to meet its funding needs.
The company’s worldwide commercial paper outstanding at
October 31, 2004 and 2003 was approximately $1.9 billion and
$2.1 billion, respectively, while the total cash and cash equivalents
position was $3.2 billion and $4.4 billion, respectively. The company
has for many years accessed diverse funding sources, including
short-term and long-term unsecured debt capital markets in the
U.S., Canada, Europe and Australia, as well as public and private
securitization markets in the U.S. and Canada.
The company also has access to unsecured bank lines of
credit with various U.S. and foreign banks. Some of the lines
are available to both Deere & Company and John Deere Capital
Corporation. Worldwide lines of credit totaled $3,190 mullion at
October 31, 2004, $900 million of which were unused. For the
purpose of computing unused credit lines, commercial paper and
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short-term bank borrowings, excluding the current portion of
long-term borrowings, were considered to constitute utilization.
Included in the total credit lines at October 31, 2004 was a
long-term credit facility agreement totaling $1,250 million,
expiring in February 2009.

The credit agreement requires the Equipment Operations
to maintain a ratio of total debt to total capital (total debt and
stockholders’ equity) of 65 percent or less at the end of each fiscal
quarter. At October 31, 2004, the ratio was 32 percent. Under this
provision, the company’s excess equity capacity and retained
earnings balance free of restriction at October 31, 2004 was
$4,756 million. Alternatively under this provision, the Equipment
Operations had the capacity to incur additional debt of $8,832
million at October 31, 2004.

To access public debt capital markets, the company relies
on credit rating agencies to assign short-term and long-term
credit ratings to the company’s securities as an indicator of credit
quality for fixed income investors. A security rating is not a
recommendation by the rating agency to buy; sell or hold company
securities. A credit rating agency may change or withdraw company
ratings based on its assessment of the company’s current and
future ability to meet interest and principal repayment obligations.
Lower credit ratings genetally result in higher borrowing costs
and reduced access to debt capital markets.

The senior long-term and short-term debt ratings and
outlook currently assigned to company securities by the rating
agencies engaged by the company are as follows:

Senior
Long-Term Short-Term Qutiook
Moody's INVESTOrS. .....vvvvvrnvicce. A3 Prime-2 Stable
Service, Inc.
Standard & PoOr's .........cocorvvvrens A A-2 Stable

Trade accounts and notes receivable primarily arise from sales
of goods to dealers. Trade receivables increased by $588 million
n 2004. The ratios of trade accounts and notes receivable at
October 31 to fiscal year net sales were 18 percent in 2004,
compared with 20 percent in 2003. Total worldwide agricultural
equipment trade receivables increased $127 million, commercial
and consumer equipment receivables increased $110 million
and construction and forestry receivables increased $351 million.
The collection period for trade receivables averages less than
12 months. The percentage of trade receivables outstanding for a
period exceeding 12 moriths was 2 percent at October 31, 2004,
compared with 11 percent at October 31, 2003.

Stockholders’ equity was $6,393 million at October 31, 2004,
compared with $4,002 million at October 31, 2003. The increase
of $2,391 million resulted primarily from net income of $1,406
million, a decrease in the minimum pension liability adjustment of
$1,021 million and a decrease in treasury stock of $101 million,
partially offset by dividends declared of $262 million.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRAKGEMENTS

The company’s credit operations periodically securitize and sell
retail notes to special purpose entities (SPEs) in securitizations of
retail notes. The credit operations use these SPEs in a manner
consistent with conventional practices in the securitization industry
to isolate the retail notes for the benefit of securitization investors.
The use of the SPEs enables these operations to access the highly
liquid and efficient securitization markets for the sales of these rypes
of financial assets. The amounts of funding from securitizatiorss
reflects such factors as capital market accessibility, relative costs of
funding sources and assets available for securitization. Based on an
assessment of these and other factors, the company received $2,269
million of funding and recognized pretax gains of $48 niillion
related to these securitizations during 2004. The company’s total
exposure to recourse provisions related to securitized retail notes
was $218 million and the total assets held by the SPEs related to
securitizations were $3,441 muillion at October 31, 2004,

At October 31, 2004, the company had guaranteed
approximately $40 million of residual values for two operating
leases related to an administrative and a manufacturing building.
The company is obligated at the end of each lease term to pay
to the lessor any reduction in market value of the leased property
up to the guaranteed residual value. The company recognizes the
expense for these future estimated lease payments over the terms
of the operating leases and had accrued expenses of $§9 million
related to these agreements at October 31, 2004. The leases have
terms expiring in 2006 and 2007.

At October 31,2004, the company had approximately
$95 million of guarantees issued primarily to banks outside the
U.S. related to third-party receivables for the retail financing of
John Deere equipment. The company may recover a portion of
any required payments incurred under these agreements from
repossession of the equipment collateralizing the receivables.

At October 31, 2004, the company had accrued losses of
approximately $1 million under these agreements. The maxirnum
remaining term of the receivables guaranteed at October 31, 2004
was approximately six years.

AGGREGATE CONTRACTUAL CBLIGATIONS

Most of the company’s contractual obligations to make payments
to third parties are debt obligations. In addition, the company has
off-balance sheet obligations for the purchases of raw materials
and services along with agreements for future lease payments.
The payment schedule for these contractual obligations in millions
of dollars is as follows:

Less More
than 1-3 3-5 than
Total 1 year years  years b years
Total debt*
Equipment Operations . $ 2,958 $ 312 § 281 § 8 $2357
Financial Services......... 11,265 3,146 4393 1541 2,185
Total o, 14,223 3,458 4674 1549 4542
Purchase obligations......... 2,306 2274 32
Operating leases............... 367 75 130 59 103
Capital 1€8SeS ..........co..e... 12 2 3 2 5
Contractual obligations...... $16,908 $5809 $4,839 $1610 $4,650

* Principal payments.




CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of the company’s consolidated financial statements
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the U.S. requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could have
a significant effect on the financial statements. The accounting
policies below are those management believes are the most
critical to the preparation of the company’ financial statements
and require the most difficult, subjective or complex judgments.
The company’s other accounting policies are described in the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Sales Incentives

At the time a sale to a dealer is recognized, the company records
an estimate of the future sales incentive costs for allowances and
financing programs that will be due when the dealer sells the
equipment to a retail customer. The estimate is based on historical
data, announced incentive programs, field inventory levels and
settlement volumes. The final cost of these programs and the
amount of accrual required for a specific sale is fully determined
when the dealer sells the equipment to the retail customer.

This 1s due to numerous programs available at any particular time
and new programs that may be announced after the company
records the sale. Changes in the mix and types of programs affect
these estimates, which are reviewed quarterly.

The sales incentve accruals at October 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002 were $540 million, $444 million and $584 mullion,
respectively The total incentive accruals recorded at the end of
2004 increased compared to the end of 2003 primarily due to
an increase in the sales volume discounts to dealers related to
the increase in sales in 2004. In 2003, the sales incentive accruals
recorded at year-end decreased, compared to 2002 year-end,
primarily due to the volume discounts for the agricultural
equipment segment being paid quarterly beginning in 2003
versus annually in 2002.

The estimation of the sales incentive accrual is impacted by
many assumptions. One of the key assumptions is the historical
percentage of sales incentive costs to settlements from dealers.
Over the last five fiscal years, this percent has varied by approxi-
mately plus or minus .5 percent, compared to the average sales
incentive costs to settlements percentage during that period.
Holding other assumptions constant, if this loss experience
percentage were to increase or decrease .5 percent, the sales
incentive accrual at October 31, 2004 would increase or decrease
by approximately $25 million.

Product Warranties

At the time a sale to a dealer is recognized, the company records the
estimated future warranty costs. The company generally determines
its total warranty liability by applying historical claims rate
experience to the estimated amount of equipment that has been
sold and is still under warranty based on dealer inventories and
retail sales. The historical claims rate is primarily determined by a
review of five-year claims costs and current quality developments.
Variances in claims experience and the type of warranty programs
affect these estimates, which are reviewed quarterly.

The product warranty accruals at October 31, 2004,

2003 and 2002 were $458 million, $389 million and $332 million,
respectively. The increases in 2004 and 2003 were primarily due
to the increases in sales volume.

Estimates used to determine the product warranty accruals
are significantly affected by the historical percentage of warranty
claims costs to sales. Over the last five fiscal years, this loss
experience percent has varied by approximately plus or minus
.15 percent, compared to the average warranty costs to sales
percentage during that period. Holding other assumptions constant,
if this estimated loss experience percentage were to increase or
decrease .15 percent, the warranty accrual at October 31, 2004
would increase or decrease by approximately $30 million.

Postretirement Benefit Obligations
Pension obligations and other postreticement employee

‘benefit (OPEB) obligations are based on various assumptions

used by the company’s actuaries in calculating these amounts.
These assumptions include discount rates, health care cost trend
rates, expected return on plan assets, compensation increases,
retirement rates, mortality rates and other factors. Actual results
that differ from the assumptions and changes in assumptions
affect future expenses and obligations.

The total net pension and OPEB liabilities recognized at
October 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $729 mullion, $3,804
million and $3,660 million, respectively. The decrease in the total
net liabilities recognized at October 31,2004 is primarily due to the
decrease in the minimum pension liability related to the increase
in pension plan assets. The increase in plan assets was a result of
voluntary company contributions and the return on plan assets.

The effect of hypothetical changes to selected assumptions
on the company’s major U. S retirement benefit plans would be
as follows in millions of dollars:

Qctober 31, 2004 2005
Increase Increase Increase
Percentage {Decrease) (Decrease)  (Decrease)
Assumptions Change PBO/APBO* Equity** Expense
Pension
Discount rate™” ........ +-5 $(389/417  $0/2436) $ (34/34
Expected return
0N assets............. +/-.5 (39)/39
OPEB
Discount rate™* ....... +/-.5 (353)/394 (52)/57
Health care cost
trend rate™* . ....... +/-1.0 716/(630) 170/(148)

* Projected benefit obligation (PBO) for pension plans and accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation (APBO) for OPEB plans.

** Pretax minimum pension liability adjustment.
*** Pretax impact on service cost, interest cost and amortization of gains or losses.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The allowance for credit losses represents an estimate of the losses
expected from the company’s receivable portfolio. The level of the
allowance is based on many quantitative and qualitative factors,
including historical loss experience by product category, portfolio
duration, delinquency trends, economic conditions and credit

risk quality. The adequacy of the allowance is assessed quarterly.




Different assumptions or ichanges in economic conditions
would result in changes to the allowance for credit losses and
the provision for credit losses.

The total allowance for credit losses at October 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002 was $201 million, $207 million and $182 million,
respectively. The decrease in 2004 was primarily due to improved
credit quality and delinquency trends. The increase in 2003 was
primarily due to the increase in receivables.

The assumptions used in evaluating the company’s exposure
to credit losses involve estimates and significant judgment.
The historical Joss experience on the receivable portfolios
represents one of the key assumptions involved in determining
the allowance for credit losses. Over the last five fiscal years, the
average loss experience has fluctuated between 2 basis points and
15 basis points in any given fiscal year over the applicable prior
period. Holding other estimates constant, a 5 basis point increase
or decrease in estimated loss experience on the receivable
portfolios would result in an increase or decrease of approximately
$7 million to the allowance for credit losses at October 31, 2004.

Operating Lease Residual Values

The carrying value of equipment on operating leases is affected by
the estimated fair values of the equipment at the end of the lease
(residual values). Upon termination of the lease, the equipment is
either purchased by the lessee or sold to a third party, in which case
the company may record a gain or a loss for the difference between
the estimated residual value and the sales price. The residual values
are dependent on current economic conditions and are reviewed
quarterly. Changes in residual value assumptions would affect the
amount of depreciation expense and the amount of investment in
equipment on operating leases. ,

The total operating lease residual values at October 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002 were $303 muillion, $913 million and $1,092 million,
respectively. The decreases in 2004 and 2003 were primarily due
to the decreases in the level of operating leases.

Estimates used in détermining end of lease market values
for equipment on operating leases significantly impact the amount
and timing of depreciation expense. If future market values for this
equipment were to decrease 5 percent from the company’s present
estimates, the total impact would be to increase the company’
depreciation on equipment on operating leases by approximately
$40 million. This amount would be charged to depreciation expense
during the remaining lease terms such that the net investment in
operating leases at the end of the lease terms would be equal wo
the revised residual values. Initial lease terms generally range from
three to five years.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK INFORMATION

The company is naturally' exposed to various interest rate and
foreign currency risks. As a result, the company enters into
derivative transactions to manage certain of these exposures that
arise in the normal course of business and not for the purpose

of creating speculative positions or trading. The company’s credit
operations manage the relationship of the types and amounts of
their funding sources to their receivable and lease portfolio in an
effort to diminish risk due to interest rate and foreign currency
fluctuations, while responding to favorable financing opportunities.
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Accordingly, from time to time, these operations enter into irterest
rate swap agreenients to manage their interest rate exposure.

The company also has foreign currency exposures at some of

its foreign and domestic operations related to buying, selling

and financing in currencies other than the local currencies.

The company has entered into agreements related to the
management of these currency transaction risks. The credit risk
under these interest rate and foreign currency agreements is not
considered to be significant.

Interest Rate Risk

Quarterly, the company uses a combination of cash flow models
to assess the sensitivity of its financial instruments with interest
rate exposure to changes in market interest rates. The models
calculate the effect of adjusting interest rates as follows. Cash flows
for financing receivables are discounted at the current prevailing
rate for each receivable portfolio. Cash flows for borrowings are
discounted at the treasury yield curve plus a market credit spread
for similarly rated borrowers. Cash flows for interest rate swaps
are projected and discounted using forecasted rates from the swap
yield curve at the repricing dates. The net loss in these financial
instruments’ fair values which would be caused by decreasing the
interest rates by 10 percent from the market rates at October 31,
2004 and 2003 would have been approximately $42 million and
$56 million, respectively.

Foreign Currency Risk

In the Equipment Operations, it is the comipany’s practice to
hedge significant currency exposures. Worldwide foreign currency
exposures are reviewed quarterly. Based on the Equipment
Operations anticipated and committed foreign currency cash
inflows and outflows for the next twelve months and the foreign
currency derivatives at year end, the company estimates that a
hypothetical 10 percent weakening of the U.S. dollar relative to all
other currencies through 2005 would decrease the 2005 expected
net cash inflows by $18 million. At last year end, a hypothetical 10
percent strengthening of the U.S. dollar under similar assumptions
and calculations indicated a potential $65 million adverse effect
on the 2004 net cash inflows.

In the Financial Services operations, the company’s policy is
to hedge the foreign currency risk if the currency of the borrowings
does not match the currency of the receivable portfolio. As a result,
a hypothetical 10 percent adverse change in the value of the
U.S. dollar relative to all other foreign currencies would not have
a material effect on the Financial Services cash flows.




REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The consolidated financial statements and other financial
information of Deere & Company in this report were prepared by
management, which is responsible for their contents. They reflect
amounts based upon management’s best estimates and informed
judgments. In management’s opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly the financial position, results of operations
and cash flows of the company in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States.

The company maintains a system of internal control over
financial reporting which is intended, consistent with reasonable
cost, to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are executed
as authorized, that they are included in the financial records in all
material respects, and that accountability for assets is maintained.
The accounting controls and procedures are supported by careful
selection and training of personnel, examinations by an internal
auditing department and a continuing management commitment
to the integrity of the system.

The financial statements have been audited in accordance
with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) by Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent
auditors. The independent auditors have evaluated the company’s
internal control over financial reporting and performed tests
of procedures and accounting records in connection with the
issuance of their report on the fairness of the consolidated
financial statements.

The Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Review
Committee composed entirely of directors who are not employees
of the company. The Audit Review Committee meets with
representatives of management, the internal auditing department
and the independent auditors, both separately and jointly.

The Committee discusses with the independent auditors and
approves in advance the scope of the audit, reviews with the
independent auditors the financial statements and their auditors’
report, consults with the internal audit staff and reviews manage-
ment’s administration of the system of internal accounting controls.
The Committee reports to the Board on its activities and findings.

Deloitte.

Deere & Company:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
of Deere & Company and subsidiaries as of October 31, 2004 and
2003 and the related statements of consolidated income, changes
in consolidated stockholders’ equity and consolidated cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2004.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Deere & Company and subsidiaries at October 31, 2004 and '
2003 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2004
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 15 to the financial statements, effective
November 1, 2002, the company changed its method of accounting
for goodwill and other intangible assets to conform to Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other
[ntangible Assets.

Dotodth ¢ Toeede 10r

Chicago, Illinois
December 17, 2004




DEERE & COMPANY

STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED INCOME
For the Years Ended October 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
{In millions of dollars except per share amounts)

2004 2003 2002
Met Saies and Revenues
NEE SAIBS 1.1 cvvtcrve e corre e e ettt bt ettt bbbt b s e b e bbbttt e $17,673.0 $13,3491 $11,7028
FiNance and INEIBST INCOME ...v.urvvee vesrerees s erries e s s s e e 11957 1,275.6 1,339.2
Health €are premiums GNG TBES. ... .ot e et st bttt e 766.2 664.5 636.0
OB IMCOME c11 1 evis vt e ettt e s r s re o0 B oAb s At s et a bR b e 351.2 2454 269.0
TOMA vttt et e et e bR Rt e et 19,9861 15,534.6 13,947.0
Costs and Expenses
Cost of SaleS......c.ccoverreriienn DT PO PP P OO TP DT PO O OO PP PO PPPPPOT 13,567.5 10,752.7 9,593.4
Research and development expenses 611.6 577.3 527.8
Selling, administrative and general expenses 21174 1,744.2 1,657.3
INterest eXPENSe ...ovevvvverrveni ettt eEe et n et b et et s 5921 628.5 637.1
Health care claims and COSIS ...q...vvvvvemereees e, TTT—— - 650.3 536.1 518.4
OthEr ODEIAtiNG BXDEINSES o.vvvvierseroersiiresrionessiesersesess s reseas et sesssaes st et ekt et bbb bbbt ans bbbt 3335 324.5 4103
TOMAL. ... covocet s s et R R bt et 17,8724 14,563.3 13,344.3
Income of Consclidated Group before INCOME TAXES ......ccoooov v e 21137 971.3 602.7
Provision fOr iNCOME fAXES vvvvuervveir i e et ceee e e 708.5 3369 258.3
Income of ConsSlidated GrOUD ..o et s 1,406.2 634.4 3444
Equity in Income {Loss) of Unconsolidated Affiliates
Credit.. oo OO P PSP PO EO OSSOSO OO SO 6 2 (3.8)
OthEr .o e SO OO RO SOV PO PRSPPI 3 85 21.4)
TOMAL oo s s e bt s bbb 8.7 (25.2)
NIBE BIICOITIE ..o e et et bt r s et a e b 1 et s et s s tb sttt b st b enan s $ 1,406.1 $ 6431 $ 3192
Per Share Data
Net Income — basiC......co..ovvv. , $ 569 $ 268 3 1.34
Net income — diluted ............... , $ 556 $ 264 $ 1.33
$ .88 $ .88

Dividends declared................... AT $ 1.06

The notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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DEERE & COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As of October 31, 2004 and 2003

{In millions of dolfars except per share amounts)

ASSETS -

£ash and CaSH BQUIVAIBNTS ...v..vivuivens i e coieiiesissisevs st ettt st e es s bs bbb bbb bbbty ba s ebs s 00n
Marketable securities
Receivables from unconsolidated affiliates
Trade acCounts and NOLES FECEIVADIE = NMEL..........oei i ettt e et bbb s sas b e
Financing receivables - net .
OUNBE TECBIVADIES ...ttt ettt bbb e bR bbb e s e s r e st sttt
Equipment 0n OPBIating 1BASBS = NEL.....c.iiviiei ettt ettt et bbb bbb bbb
INVENTOMIES ... e
Property and equipment - net...........
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates
GOOAWII.... covevieev ettt es e s ea s eaes et e eeras e ber s
Other iNtangible GSSELS = MBL......v.. i et et e es
Prepaid pension costs
OENBE BSSBTS. ...ttt ettt e e ettt rn s s
DERITEA INCOME BXES 1o vt ettt bbbt bbb e b bs £ bs bt es e s b s et
DEIBITEA CNATGES .vvoveeve vt ettt et b0 e ettt r b r s 1 b ea bbb e

TOUAE ASSEES.......cerveereeecsensieessienessconssane s eness e ensses s smsts s e sssms e oo st e teeeerene o esresenn e

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

LIABILITIES
SHOM-IEITTI BOITOWINGS ¢.1. et eersicrtsees e st ees e ans s s8R 0tee
Payables 10 UNCONSOIAALET AFfIIALES ........evieeeicest e e e s b ar s b vttt
ACCOUNES PaYaDbIe ANT ACCTUBH BXDBIISES ......ev.veevreirieers et resiss it st s b s st es b nb s st en bbb ebe
Health care claims and reserves
ACCTUBH TAXES ... stttk ettt ettt e ettt sttt A e s b e e et a bbbt s st es s e eeb et st
DETEITEO IMCOME TXES v. .. o evvv e eesssese s eve s cese s e e sr st e e s st eee s seeres e s aoereeersenrien
Long-term DOMrOWINGS......ccevviveriivciris e,
Retirement benefit accruals and other liabilities .

TORAI TADHIEES ..ovvv v st e et et e e er e et m e bR s bbbttt et a b s bbb s ne

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common stock, $1 par value (authorized — 600,000,000 shares;
issued — 268,215,602 shares in 2004 and 2003), at Stated VAIUE........cc.coericeri o o

Common stock in treasury, 21,356,458 shares in 2004 and 24,694,170 shares in 2003, at cost

Minimum pension liability AAJUSIMENT ..ot bbbt e
Cumulative translation adiUSIMENT ... et st e
UNrealized 10SS 0N QBIAVATIVES ........co oottt es e et e
Unrealized gain 0N IMVESIMENTS. ... .ev e b s bbb bbb s

Accumulated other comprehensive income {0ss)
Total stockholders’ equity

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ EQUILY...................c..oooiiiiii et

3,206.9
11,232.6
663.0
1,286.9
1,999.1
21616
106.9
9736
217
2,4931
515.4
5281

1097

$ 28,7540

20435 °

(1,040.4)

(12.7)
54451

6,435.5

(672
9.1
6.4)
1.8

(42.7)
6,392.8

$ 287540

2003

$ 43845
2318
303.2

2,619.3
99742
428.3
1,381.9
1,366.1
2,075.6
1955
8721
252.8
62.6
534.3
1,476.1
99.6

$ 26,258.0

$ 43472
87.8
31055
841

2265

30.7
10,404.2
3,958.9

1,987.8
(1,141.4)
(5.8

43295

51701

(1,078.0)

{719.2)
(22.4)
116

{1,168.0)
4,002.1

$ 26,2580

The notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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DEERE & COMPANY

STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended October 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
{In millions of dollars)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
NEtINCOME ..ovvvoeeece e OO OO PO P OO PP
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
ProviSion fOr AOUBHUL FECEIVAIIES .......vveroeee e seesss et et en st
Provision for depreciation and MOMHZALION .............evivomnris st ens st ess s s csseesoenes
Undistributed eamings of unconsolidated affiiates
Provision (credt) for deferred inCOME taXES.........cccuvvvirevivnivrienss e,
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables ... O TP PP T UV
Inventories
Accounts payable and accl

rued expenses

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Collections of receivables........... et er et i eb it b bt e AR b Ao b e R YRR bbb AR Lt et a1t e s bbb n s st bR et
Proceeds from sales of financing receivables
Proceeds from maturities and sajes of marketable SECUITIES ..........c..orverrcrreeiceernn e e e
Proceeds from sales of equipment on operating 18aSES ... ..e.cvvvvvviiris e [E T OT
Proceeds from sales of businesses
CoSt Of reCEIVADIES ACAUITEA ...vvitiviieiiiisiit i ettt e sn e b e bbbt enes et sn st
Purchases of Marketable SECUMHES ..........c.cooovveiiieiscees et ettt et et graes
Purchases of property and equipment .
Cost of Operating 188868 ACAUINEM..............coevisiiers oottt sttt cess s e
Acquisitions of businesses, Net of CASN ACGUIMET ..........vrvveeereeorecomesesstoeess e econssees e eeseseeesesesseeeesc e renss
Decrease (increase) in receivables from unconsolidated affiliates ............ccoovovnrivveriiimiinsiiviiriiee s

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Increase (decrease) in SNOM-tEIM DOMOWINGS ... v..vviver ittt bbbt eabe e
Proceeds rom 10Ng-TeIM DOMOWINTS .....ovier i e eers ettt ekt ab e ssr s s sres et
Principal payments 0N 1ong-term BOMOWINGS .. ..o..v v i iersi et emree i e ireesssssss s snsas s sass s

Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Repurchases 0f COMMON SIOCK . ..ueviiveiriirien ittt et ab s ens s b et e
Dividends paid........c.ccovvrrrevrennes beer e s ve s sees et et e ettt e e et e e b bt e enteen e r e

Effect of Exchange Rate Chdnges O CASH ..o e

Net Increase (Decrease) in Gash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Gash Equivalents ?t Beginning of YEar............cccoo oo e e

Cash and Cash Equivalents at ENd O YEAN ...

2004 2003 2002
$ 1,406.1 $ 6431 $ 3192
514 106.8 160.7
621.0 631.4 7253
207 (5.5) 227
385.0 33.1 (12)
@77.8) 182.3 158.2
(293.7) 84.1 85.8

- 872.7 (184.9) 144.0
(1,422.9) 45.3 263.6
1,1625 1535.7 1878.3
10,233.6 9,077.6 6,987.0
2,333.6 1,941.0 2,967.8
66.7 76.4 754
444.4 - 5145 4952
90.6 25 535
(13,628.9) (11,576.8) (9,955.3)
(79.6) (118.2) (87.8)
(363.8) (309.6) (358.7)
(571.1) (473.7) (487.9)
(192.9 (10.6) (19.0
(68.7) ©.8) 1438
(1) (32.4) 1.0
(1,735.5) (896.1) (314.0)
(356.0) 126.9 (1,413.2)
2,189.5 3,312.9 45737
(2,312.7) (2,542.7) (2,771.0)
250.8 1745 480
(193.9) (4 12
(246.6) (2105) (208.9)
(4) (1.8) (1.9)
(668.5) 858.9 225.9
38.1 711 (5.3)
1,569.6 1784.9

28149 1,030.0

$ 43845 $ 28149

The notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
* Primarily related to pension anq other postretirement benefits in 2004.

22




DEeERe & COMPANY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the Years Ended October 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004
{In millions of dollars)

Unamortized Other
Total Common Treasury Restricted Retained Comprehensive
Equity Stock Stock Stock Earnings Income (Loss)
Balance October 31,2001 ................c...cooovvenrnns $3,992.2 $1,9486 $ (1,405.5) $ (16.8) $ 38348 $ (3689
Comprehensive income (loss}
NELINCOME ...covviieiee e e s 319.2 319.2
Other comprehensive income (10ss)
Minimum pension liability adjustment ................ (1,015.9) (1,015.9
Cumulative translation adjustment ................... {7.6) 7.6)
Unrealized gain on derivatives...........cocccvivveennas 25.0 25.0
Unrealized gain on investments........cco..cvcner.a. 1.0 1.0
Total comprehensive income {10SS).................... 678.3)
Repurchases of common stock..... e (1.2) (1.2)
Treasury shares reissud. ..o vvrerrevnnrivenrsonsiennnees 84.5 : 845
Dividends declared {209.3) (209.3)
Other stockholder transactions (24.7) 8.4 (1.0 32.1)
Balance October 31,2002.........................c..cc........ 31632 1,957.0 (1,322.2) (17.8) 39126 (1,366.4)
Comprehensive income
NETINCOME .o e e 6431 643.1
Other comprehensive income (Ioss)
Minimum pension liability adjustment ................ 459 @45.9)
Cumulative translation adjustment 2139 2139
Unrealized gain on derivatives............. 246 246
Unrealized gain on investments....... 58 58
Total comprehensive income...............cc...o....... 8415
Repurchases of common StockK...........cc..ccvveerernnn. (4 (4)
Treasury shares reissued........ 181, 181.
Dividends declared................. (211.2) 211.2)
Other stockholder transactions ... 27.8 308 12.0 (15.0)
Balance October 31,2003.................. SRR 4,002.1 1,987.8 (1,141.4) (5.8) 4,329.5 (1,168.0)
Comprehensive income
NEINCOME oo e 1,406.1 1,406.1
Other comprehensive income
Minimum pension liability adjustment ................ 1,020.8 1,020.8
Cumulative translation adjustment 88.3 88.3
Unrealized gain on derivatives............. 16.0 16.0
Unrealized gain on investments...............c.co...... 2 2
Total comprehensive inCome..................cooeveev... 2,531.4
Repurchases of common SIOCK.........cc...couverrivnironnn, (193.1) (193.1)
Treasury SNAres reiSSUE .........o.ovvevvvvvvvvvvriinnns e 2941 2941
Dividends declared (262.2) (262.2)
Other stockholder transactions ..o S, 205 8.7 ©.9 (28.3)
Balance October 31,2004 .............ccc..cooccricerinnns $6,392.8 $2,0435 $(1,040.4) $ (127 $ 54451 $ @427

The notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATjED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICAﬂT ACCOUNTING POLIGIES

The following are significant accounting policies in addition to those
included in other notes to/the consolidated financial statements.
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial|statements represent the consolidation
of all companies in which Deere & Company has a controlling
interest. Deere & Company records its investment in each
unconsolidated affiliated company (generally 20 to 50 percent
ownership) at its related equity in the net assets of such affiliate.
Other investments (less than 20 percent ownership) are recorded at
cost. Consolidated retained earnings at October 31, 2004 include
undistributed earnings of the unconsolidated affiliates of $10 million.
Dividends from unconsolidlated affiliates were $22 million in
2004, $3 million in 2003 and $2 million in 2002 (see Note 6).
Special purpose entities (SPEs) related to the sale and
securitization of financingreceivables, which are also variable
interest entities (VIEs), are fiot consolidated since the company does
not control these entities, and they either meet the requirements
of qualified special purpose entities, or the company is not the
primary beneficiary. In addition, the specified assets in these VIEs
related to the company’s securitizations are not the only source
of payment for specified liabilities or other interests of these VIEs
and, therefore, do not require consolidation (see Note 10).
Certain amounts for |prior years have been reclassified
to conform with 2004 financial statement presentations.
Structure of Operations
Certain information in the notes and related commentary are
presented in a format which includes data grouped as follows:
Equipment Operations — Includes the company’s agricultural
equipment, commercial and consumer equipment and construction
and forestry operations with Financial Services reflected on the
equity basis. The special technologies operations were combined
with the agricultural equipment operations in 2004 (see Note 27).
Financial Services —iIncludes the company’s credit, health
care and certain miscellaneous service operations, which were
added in 2004.
Consolidated — Represents the consolidation of the
* Equipment Operations and Financial Services. R eferences
to “Deere & Company” or “the company” refer to the entire
efiterprise. ‘
Use of Estimates in Financial Statements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles genérally accepted in the U.S. requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts and related disclosures. Actual results could
differ from those estimates;
Revenue Recognition :
Sales of equipment and service parts are recorded when
title and all risk of ownership are transferred to the independent
dealer based on the agreement in effect with the dealer. In the
U.S. and most international locations, this transfer occurs when
goods are shipped to the dealer. In Canada and some other
international locations, certain goods are shipped to dealers on
a consignment basis under| which title and risk of ownership are
not transferred to the dealer. Accordingly, sales are not recorded
until a retail customer has purchased the goods. In all cases, when

a sale is recorded by the company, no significant uncertainty exists .
surrounding the purchaser’s obligation to pay. No right of return
exists on sales of equipment. Service parts returns are estimable
and accrued at the time a sale is recognized. The company makes
appropriate provisions based on experience for costs such as
doubtful receivables, sales incentives and product warranty.
Financing revenue is recorded over the terms of the related
receivables using the interest method. Income from operating
leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the scheduled
lease terms. Health care premiums and fees are recognized as
earned over the terms of the policies or contracts.
Sales Incentives
At the time a sale to a dealer is recognized, the company records
an estimate of the future sales incentive costs for allowances and
financing programs that will be due when the dealer sells the

_ equipment to a retail customer. The estimate is based on historical
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data, announced incentive programs, field inventory levels and
settlement volumes.

Product Warranties

At the time a sale to a dealer is recognized, the company records
the estimated future warranty costs. These costs are usually
estimated based on historical warranty claims (see Note 20).
Sales of Receivables

Certain financing receivables are periodically sold to SPEs in
securitization transactions (see Note 10). Gains or losses from these
sales are recognized in the period of sale based on the relative fair
value of the portion sold and the portion allocated to retained
interests. The retained interests are recorded at fair value estimated
by discounting future cash flows. Changes in these fair values are
recorded after-tax as a component of other comprehensive income,
which is recorded directly in stockholders’ equity until realized.
Depreciation and Amortization

Property and equipment, capitalized software and other
intangible assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives
using the straight-line method. Equipment on operating leases is
depreciated over the terms of the leases using the straight-line
method. Property and equipment expenditures for new and revised
products, increased capacity and the replacement or major renewal
of significant items are capitalized. Expenditures for maintenance;
repairs and minor renewals are generally charged to expense

as incurred.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill

The company evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets
(including property and equipment, goodwill and other intangible
assets) when events and circumnstances warrant such a review.
Goodwill 1s also reviewed for impairment by reporting unit
annually (see Note 15). If the carrying value of the long-lived asset
is considered impaired, a loss is recognized based on the amount by
which the carrying value exceeds the fair market value of the asset.
Health Care Claims and Reserves

Health care claims and reserves include liabilities for unpaid
claims based on estimated costs of settling the claims using past
experience adjusted for current trends.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currencies for most of the company’s foreign
operations are their respective local currencies. The assets and
liabilities of these operations are translated into U.S. dollars at




the end of the period exchange rates, and the revenues and
expenses are translated at weighted-average rates for the period.
The gains or losses from these translations are included in other
comprehensive income, which is part of scockholders’ equity.
Gains or Josses from transactions denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the subsidiary involved and foreign
exchange forward contracts and options are included in net income.
The total foreign exchange pretax net loss for 2004, 2003 and
2002 was $26 million, $6 million and $36 million, respectively.
Stock-Based Compensation
The company has retained the intrinsic value method of
accounting for its plans in accordance with Accounting Principles
Board (APB) Opinion No. 25. No compensation expense for stock
options was recognized under this method since the options’
exercise prices were not less than the market prices of the stock at
the dates the options were awarded (see Note 22). The stock-based
compensation expense recognized in earnings relates to restricted
stock awards. For disclosure purposes under Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) Statement No. 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation, the Black-Scholes option pricing
mode] was used to calculate the “fair values” of stock options
on the date the options were awarded. Based on this model,
the weighted-average fair values of stock options awarded during
2004, 2003 and 2002 with the exercise price equal to the market
price were $12.40, $9.55 and $11.42 per option, respectively.

Pro forma net income and net income per share, as if the
fair value method in FASB Statement No. 123 had been used
for stock-based compensation, and the assumptions used were as
follows with dollars in millions except per share amounts:

2004 2003 2002

Net income as reported ............cocvvvoveeennens $1406 $ 643 $ 319
Add:
Stock-based employee compensation costs,

net of tax, included in net income ........... 5 3 2
Less:

Stock-based employee compensation costs, ‘
net of tax, as if fair value method had

Deenapplied ... (31 (32) 37)
Pro forma net iNCOME ........cc..vveerivrieen, $1380 § 614 $ 284
Net income per share:

As reported — basiC.........c.coevr v, $ 569 $ 268 § 1.34

Pro forma —basic ............ $ 558 $ 256 ¢$ 1.19

As reported — diluted $ 55 $ 264 $ 133

Proforma —diluted ......co.ccooevvvernrceann, $ 547 § 253 $ 1.19

" Black-Scholes assumptions®

Risk-free interest rate.........oo.coovivririnnes 2.6% 2.4% 3.6%

Dividend yield...........ccocovvevorriiireriinn, 1.4% 1.9% 2.1%

Stock volatility ...ovevviveevveee e, 278%  298%  36.0%

Expected option life in years ................... 32 34 37

* Weighted-averages

New Accounting Standard to be Adopted

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 123
{revised 2004), Share-Based Payment. This standard eliminated the
alternative of accounting for share-based compensation using APB

~ Opinion No. 25.The revised standard generally requires the

recognition of the cost of employee services based on the grant
date fair value of equity or liability instruments issued. The effective

date for the company is the beginning of the fourth fiscal quarter
of 2005. The impact of the adoption on the company’s financial
position or net income has not been determined.

Mew Accounting Standards Adopted
In 2004, the company adopted FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 46
(revised December 2003), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,
which addresses the consolidation and related disclosures of these
entities by business enterprises. These are entities in which either
the equity investment at risk is not sufficient to absorb. the probable
losses without additional subordinated financial support from other
parties, ot the investors with equity at risk lack certain essential
characteristics of a controlling interest. Under the Interpretation,
the company must consolidate any variable interest entities (VIEs)
in which the company holds variable interests and the company
1s deemed the primary beneficiary. As disclosed in Note 10, the
company’s credit operations hold retained interests in certain special
purpose entities (SPEs) related to the securitization and sale of
their retail notes. These SPEs are defined as VIEs. Under the
Interpretation, most of the company’ retained interests are not
deemed variable interests because they are interests in a VIE’
specified assets with a fair value that is less than half the fair value
of the VIE’ total assets. In addition, these specified assets are not the
only source of payment for specified liabilities or other interests
of these VIE’s and, therefore, do not require consolidation under
the Interpretation. The company’s remaining retained interests
are with qualified special purpose entities (QSPEs) as defined by
FASB Statement No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing
of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities, which are
exempt from consolidation. The adoption of this standard did not
require the consolidation of any SPEs related to securitizations.
The effect of the adoption for other VIEs did not have a material
effect on the company’s financial position or net income.

In 2004, the company also adopted FASB Statement
No. 132 (revised 2003), Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions
and Other Postretirement Benefits, an amendment of FASB
Statements No. 87, 88 and 106.This Statement added certain
disclosure requirements for the major categories of plan assets,

- the accumulated pension benefit obligations, the measurement

date used, the benefits expected to be paid to plan participants
during the next ten years, the employer’s contributions expected
to be paid to the plans during the next fiscal year, and interim
disclosure of the components of the benefit costs along with any
revisions to the contributions expected to be paid to the plans
for the current fiscal year. This Statement required additional
disclosure only and had no effect on the company’s financial
position or net income (see Note 3).

In December 2003, the U.S. Congress passed and the
President signed into law the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (Act). The Act
includes a prescription drug benefit under Medicare Part D as
well as a federal subsidy beginning in 2006. This subsidy will be
paid to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a
benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent (as defined in the Act)
to Medicare Part D.The company believes its retiree health and
accident plan is at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D
and eligible for the federal subsidy. The subsidy will be based on
approximately 28 percent of an individual beneficiary’s annual
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prescription drug costs betWeen $250 and $5,000. The company
elected to defer the recognition of the effects of the Act on the
financial statements until ﬁnal authoritative guidance on the
subsidy was issued by the FASB The final guidance under FASB
Staft Position (FSP) Financial Accounting Standards (FAS) 106-2,
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization
Act of 2003, was issued May 19, 2004. The company adopted

the guidance on a prospective basis in the third quarter of 2004.
Treating the future subsidy under the Act as an actuarial experience
gain, as required by the guidance, decreased the accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation at the beginning of the third
quarter by approximately $410 million. The subsidy also decreased
the net periodic postretirement benefit cost for the last half of
2004 by approximately $42‘ million. ’

Acquisitions and Dispositions

The following acquisitions and dispositions were made which

did not materially affect the company’ financtal statements.

In December 2003 and March 2004, the company exercised call
options purchasing an additional 59 percent ownership interest in
Nortrax, Inc. for $151 million, increasing its ownership interest to
100 percent, which included approximately $110 million for
previously accrued costs related to the call option amount,
approximately $30 million for goodwill and the remainder for
identifiable net assets. In Mdrch 2004, the company exercised a call
option purchasing an additi;onal 60 percent ownership interest n
Nortrax Investments, Inc. for $16 million, increasing its ownership
interest to 100 percent, which included approximately $10 million
for previously accrued costs related to the call option amount,
approximately $2 million for goodwill and the remainder for
identifiable net assets. In August 2004, the company exercised a call
option purchasing an additional 66 percent of Ontrac Holdings, Inc.
for $19 million, increasing ﬂts ownership to 100 percent, which
included approximately $11imillion for goodwill and the remainder
for identifiable net assets. The goodwill generated in these acquisi-
tions was the result of the future cash flows and related fair values
of the entities acquired exceeding the fair values of the entities’
identifiable assets and liabilities. Nortrax, Inc. was consolidated at
the end of December 2003‘ Nortrax Investments, Inc. was
consolidated at the end of March 2004 and Ontrac Holdings, Inc.
was consolidated at the end of August 2004, due to majority
ownership interests. These entities also included approximately
$30 million of existing goodwill, which was also included on the
company’s balance sheet when they were consolidated. None of
the goodwill is deductible for tax purposes. The other intangibles
purchased with these entities were not material. All the entities

" described above, which are collectively called Nortrax, are included
in the construction and forestry segment of the company’s
operations and are involved in the ownership and development of
several construction equipment dealer locations. The total values
assigned to major assets and liabilities of the Nortrax entities
related to the portion of additional ownership acquired during
2004 were approximately $175 million for inventories, $35 million
for trade receivables, $43 million for goodwill, $25 million for
property and equipment, $25 million for other assets, $215 million
for payables to the company and $25 million of other liabilities.
The pro forma results of the company’s operations as if these

acquisitions had occurred at the beginning of the fiscal year would
not differ materially from reported results.

In November 2003, the company sold its 49 percent
minority ownership in Sunstate Equipment Co., LLC, which was
a rental equipment company included in the construction and
forestry operations on the equity accounting basis. The gain on

" the sale was approximately $30 million pretax, recorded in other

income, and $22 million after-tax. The equity income included in
the financial statements for the periods presented was not material.
2. SPECIAL ITEMS

In 2001 and 2002, the company announced certain actions aimed
at increasing efficiency and reducing costs. As a result, the company
recognized asset write-downs and labilities related to these costs.
Following are descriptions of these actions and tables of the write-
downs and liabilities related to the restructuring charges as they
affected the financial statements during 2002, 2003 and 2004.
There have been no material revisions to any of these restructuring
plans. The annual pretax increase in earnings and cash flows have
been approximately $100 million as expected. The restructurings
primarily have reduced cost of sales-by approximately $300 million
and selling, administrative and general expenses by $30 million,
partially offset by a reduction in sales of $230 million.

2002 Restructuring Charges

The expense (income) and liabilities for restructuring items at
October 31 in millions of dollars and the number of employees
to be terminated were as follows:

Liabilities Expense Liabilities
2001 (Income) Payments 2002
Property and
gquipment
write-downs .......oe... $ 29
Inventory write-downs.... 5
Total write-downs ...... 34
Termination
henefits .....ooveerrivieenes $ 24 12 $ (29 § M
Contract .
terminations .............. 27 12 (21) 18
Warranties and
product retumns.......... 16 8) (7) 1
Other costS........covrvvnn, 7 8 (3) 12
Total accruals ............ $ 74 24 $ (56) $ 42
Total ..o $ 58

2001 Additions Terminated 2002

Employees to

be terminated............ 1,000 900 (1700) 200

* In addition to these charges, the company recognized $11 million of other
restructuring costs as incurred for a total of $89 million restructuring costs.
The restructuring costs of $69 million have been reduced by $14 million for adjustrents
($10 million cost of sales and $4 million sefling, administrative and general exper:ses)
due to changes in prior-year estimates as described below. Early-retirement programs
also totaled $3 million in 2002 for a total of $72 million of special items.

The costs for restructuring items in 2002 totaled $69 million
consisting of $68 million of cost of sales and $1 million of other
expenses, as discussed below. The beginning balances shown above
relate to special items in 2001 for exiting the hand-held consumer
products business included in the commercial and consumer




equipment segment and a restructuring to reduce manufacturing
and marketing costs in the construction and forestry segment.

In 2002, the company’s commercial and consumer
equipment segment announced plans to close facilities in
Williamsburg, Virginia and Jeffersonville, Indiana and streamline
~ operations at Horicon, Wisconsin. As a result of these actions, a cost
of $38 nullion was recognized, partially offset by $14 million for
adjustments related to exiting the hand-held consumer products
business in 2001. The net restructuring cost of $24 million
consisted of property and equipment write-downs of $6 million,
inventory write-downs of $1 million, contract terminations of
$8 nullion, termination benefits of $3 million for approximately
200 employees and other costs of $6 million.

In 2002, the construction and forestry segment announced
plans to close the Loudon, Tennessee factory and relocate the
skid-steer loader production to its Dubuque, lowa facility.
Primarily as a result of this closure, a total cost of $27 million
was recognized consisting of property and equipment write-downs
of $14 million, inventory write-downs of $1 million, contract
terminations of $4 million, termination benefits of $4 million
for approximately 400 employees and other costs of $4 million.

In 2002, the company’s agricultural equipment segment
recognized $12 million of impairment and reorganization costs .
primarily in its Argentina operations consisting of property and
equipment write-downs of $8 million, inventory write-downs of
$2 nullion, termination benefits of §1 million for approximately
100 employees and other costs of $1 million. The company’s special
technologies group, which is included in the agricultural equipment
segment (see Note 27), recognized $9 million of costs primarily
related to the closure of a facility in Springfield, Ilinois and the
restructuring of Agris Corporation. These costs consisted of
termination benefits of $4 million for approximately 200 employees,
property and equipment write-downs of $1 million, inventory
write-downs of $1 million and other costs of $3 million.

2003 Restructuring Charges

The income and liabilities for restructuring items at October 31 in
millions of dollars and the number of employees to be terminated
were as follows:

Liabilities  Adjustment Liabilities
2002 Income™* Payments 2003

Termination

DENEfitS ..o, $ N $ $ (10

Contract

terminations .............. 18 {3) M $ 14

Warranties and

product retumns.......... 1 M

Other costs.......cccorvvvan, 12 @) 8

Total .....coooooeviin, $ 42 $ o $ (19 $ 16
2002 Additions Terminated 2003

Employees to

be terminated............ 200 (200)

* In addition to these accrual adjustments, the company recognized $2 miflion of other
restructuring costs as incurred related to these actions for a net total $5 million of
restructuring income.

** These are adjustments of prior year accruals due to changes in estimates.
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The income from restructuring items in 2003 totaled
$5 million consisting of credits of $2 million to cost of sales
and $3 million to selling, adnunistrative and general expenses.
The beginning balances shown above relate to special itens
shown in the previous table for 2002.

2004 Restructuring Charges
The income and liabilities for restructuring items at October 31 in
millions of dollars were as follows:

Liabilities  Adjustment Liabilities
2003 Income* Payments 2004
Contract
terminations .............. $ 14 $ © $ (120§
Other costs.....cooorvivvenn. 2 m M
Tolal .....ccocoooverin $ 16 $§ © $ (13 $

* These are adjustments of prior year accruals due to changes in estimates.

The income from restructuring items in 2004 totaled
$3 million consisting of a credit to cost of sales. The beginning
balances shown above relate to special items shown in the
previous table for 2003.

3. PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

The company has several defined benefit pension plans covering
its U.S. employees and employees in certain foreign countries.
The company also has several defined benefit health care and
life insurance plans for retired employees in the U.S. and Canada.
The company uses an October 31 measurement date for these plans.
The worldwide components of net periodic pension cost
and the assumptions related to the cost consisted of the following
in millions of dollars and in percents:

2004 2003 2002
Pensions
Service cost $130 $ 111 $107
Interest cost 454 450 448
Expected return on plan assets ... 619 (558) 619
Amortization of actuarial 10SS ... ..c.o.veevriceeirnnn, 49 40 2
Amortization of prior Service CoSt............ccoerrcvuenn. 4 40 30
Amortization of net transition asset ... (1
Special early-retirement benefits.......o...cceervivvnnne 3 3
Settlements/curtalments ..., 6
Net cost (INCOME)........ccccooviriricererennn, $ 58 % 8 $ {29
Weighted-average assumptions
DiSCOUNE FAIES ov. v e 6.0% 6.7% 7.2%
Rate of compensation inCrease ...........o.oooovvvveeriunae 39% 39% 3.9%
Expected fong-term rates of retum.........ccoeeeiin, 85%  8.5% 9.7%




The worldwide components of net periodic postretirement
benefits cost and the assumptions related to the cost consisted of
the following in millions of dollars and in percents:

‘ 2004 2003 2002
Health care and life insurance
SEIVICE COS ... vvvevceis s $ 99 $ 8 $ 83
Interest COSt..viivviviviriieieinine e 314 287 224
Expacted returns an plan assets ;... (52} (39) (44)
Amortization of actuarial 10SS ....k...ciivveerncenernee, 304 - 176 46
Amortization of prior service Cost........ooovvvveen, (129 ) (6)
Special early-retirement Denefits................cocoeo. 2
Net €ost........cccooovrvceei i R $538 $510 $2303
Weighted-average assumptions
Discount ratBs ... 8.1% 6.8% 7.2%
Expected long-term rates of PR 8.5% 8.5% 97%

The following is the percentage allocation for the total pension
and health care plan assets (similar for both plans) at October 31:

Allocation
Percent
2004 2003
Equity secunities............ocveveroveae e 56% 61%
Debt securities ‘ 25 21
Real estate ................ 4 4
OthBT oo e 15 14

The primary investmfent objective is to maximize the growth
of the pension and health care plan assets to meet the projected
obligations to the beneficiaries over a long period of time, and to
do so in a manner that is consistent with the company’s earnings
strength and risk tolerancei Asset allocation policy is the most
important decision in managing the assets and it is reviewed
regularly. The asset allocation policy considers the company’s
financial strength and long-term asset class risk/return expectations
since the obligations are long-term in nature. The target allocations
are approximately 60 percent for equity securities, 20 percent for
debt securities, 4 percent for real estate and 16 percent for other.
The assets are well diversified and are managed by professional
investment firms as well as|by investment professionals who are
company employees.

The expected long-term tate of return on plan assets reflects
management’s expectations of long-term average rates of return
on funds invested to provide for benefits included in the projected
benefit obligations. The expected return is based on the outlook
for inflation, fixed income [returns and equity returns, while also
considering historical retutns, asset allocation and investment
strategy. Although not a gu:arantee of future results, the average
annual return of the company’s U.S. pension fund was 11 percent
during the past ten years and 12 percent during the past 20 years.
The discount rate assumption is based on investment yields
available on AA rated long-term corporate bonds.

The company expects to contribute approximately $130
million to its pension plans and approximately $680 million to its
health care and life insurarice plans in 2005, which include direct
benefit payments on unfunded plans. These expected contributions
also include voluntary contributions to the U.S. pension plans
of approximately $100 million and the health care plans of
approximately $400 million during 2005.

A worldwide reconciliation of the funded status of the
benefit plans and the assumptions related to the obligations at
October 31 in millions of dollars follows:

Health Care

and
Pensions Life Insurance
h 2004 2003 2004 2003
Change in benefit obligations
Beginning of year balance ..........cc...e.... $(7,790) $(6,840) $(5,408) $(4,108)
SBIVICE COSt......cootvovverererieees e (1300 (11 99) (88)
INtErest COSt......oveivveirieierie e 454)  (450) (314)  (287)
Actuarial loss 474) (534 (209 (1,578)
Amendments 3 (190) 92 424
Benefits paid 516 484 260 238
Special early-retirement benefits ........... 3 @
Foreign exchange and other.................. @5 (149 - (10 9
. End of year balance ..., (8,403) (7,790) (5,690) (5,408)
Change in plan assets (fair value)
Beginning of year balance...............c.... 5987 5,024 577 410
Actual return on plan assetS.........cnr 584 958 60 92
Employer contribution.......c...cccoceniiennn e 1,548 432 304 313
Benefits paid........copeerirerienmiinrseerenn (516)  (484)  (260)  (238)
Foreign exchange and other.................. 22 57 5 .
End of year balance ..o vvivivenierennns 7635 5987 686 577
Plan obligation more than
PlaN @SSELS. ......oorrierrres e (768) (1,803) (5,004) (4,831)
Unrecognized actuarial 10Ss.........co........ 2,551 2094 2768 2869
Unrecognized prior service (credif) cost.... 217 254 (387) 1423
Net amount recognized.................... 2,000 545 (2,623) (2,385)
Minimum pension
liability adjustment .........cocrrcorerrinnns (106) (1,964
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Net asset (liability) recognized.......... $ 1,894 $(1.419 $(2,623) $(2,385)

Amounts recognized in
balance sheet

Prepaid benefit CoSt ......coco.covvviereeeann $2493 $ 63
Accrued benefit liability .. (599) (1,482) $(2,623) $({2,385)
Intangible asset.........ccoromriieniiieinrinns 18 250
Accumulated pretax charge to

other comprehensive income............. 88 1714
Net amount recognized...................... $2000 $ 545 $(2,623) $(2.385)
Weighted-average assumptions )
DISCOUNE TAIES .vvcvovenrerieensrirrnrieveer s 55% 6.0% 55% 65.0%
Rate of compensation increase.............. 39% 39%

The annual rates of increase in the per capita cost of
covered health care benefits (the health care cost trend rates) used
to determine benefit obligations at October 31,2004 were assumed
to be 9.0 percent for 2005 graded down evenly to 5.0 percent
for 2009 and all future years. The obligations at October 31,2003
assumed 10.0 percent for 2004 graded down evenly to 5.0 percent
for 2009. An increase of one percentage point in the assumed
health care cost trend rate would increase the accumulated postre-
tirement benefit obligations at October 31, 2004 by $724 million
and the aggregate of service and interest cost component of net
periodic postretirement benefits cost for the year by $66 million.
A decrease of one percentage point would deécrease the obligarions
by $636 million and the cost by $56 million.




The benefits expected to be paid from the benefit plans,
which reflect expected future vears of service, and the Medicare
subsidy expected to be received are as follows in millions of dollars.

Health Care Health Care
and Subsidy
Pensions Life Insurance Receipts®
2005, e $ 520 $ 277
531 296 $ (10)
535 314 (12
543 330 (12)
542 343 (12)
2,910 1,929 (62)

= See Note 1 for Medicare subsidy.

The total accumulated benefit obligations for all pension
plans at October 31, 2004 and 2003 was $7,954 million and
$7,390 million, respectively.

The accumulated benefit obligations and fair value of
* plan assets for pension plans with accumulated benefitobligations
in excess of plan assets were $732 million and $141 million,
tespectively, at October 31,2004 and $7,186 million and $5,745
million, respectively, at October 31, 2003. The projected benefit
obligations and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with
projected benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $4,725
million and $3,773 million, respectively, at October 31,2004 and
87,569 million and $5,745 million, respectively, at October 31, 2003.

The minimum pension liability adjustment recorded by the
company was $106 million and $1,964 million as of October 31,
2004 and 2003, respectively The decrease in the adjustment,
compared to last year, was a result of an increase in the fair value
of plan assets due to voluntary company contributions and the
return on plan assets during 2004.

See Note 23 for defined contribution plans related to
employee investment and savings.

4, INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes by taxing jurisdiction and by
significant component consisted of the following in millions
of dollars:

2004 2003 2002
Current:
Us.:
$ 96 $145
4 1
200 109
300 255
Deferred:
us.
FEABTAl ..cvvvvieier e 306 59 6
37 3 2
FOBIGN ... e e 46 (25) 8]
Total deferred .......oovvevvceee e 389 37 3
Provision for income taxes.......................... $709 $337 $258

Based upon location of the company’s operations, the
consolidated income before income taxes in the U.S. in 2004, 2003
and 2002 was $1,253 million, $428 million and $327 mullion,
respectively, and in foreign countries was $861 million, $543 million
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and $276 million, respectively. Certain foreign operations are
branches of Deere & Company and are, therefore, subject to
US., as well as foreign income tax regulations. The pretax income
by location and the preceding analysis of the income tax provision
by taxing jurisdiction are, therefore, not directly related.

A comparison of the statutory and effective income
tax provision and reasons for related differences in millions of
dollars follow:

2004 2003 2002

U.S. federal income tax provision

at a statutory rate of 35 percent.................
Increase (decrease) resulting from:

State and local income taxes, net of

$740 $ 340 $211

federal income tax benefit.......oo.veviericvnrcinrcnens 27 4 2
Taxes on foreign activities.......co.cvorrivcrriier e 20 4 m
Goodwill amortization 10
Nondeductible costs and other-net ..., 37 3 36

Provision for income taxes...............oc.cc $709 $337 $258

At October 31, 2004, accumulated earnings in certain
subsidiaries outside the U.S. totaled $556 million for which no
provision for U.S. income taxes or foreign withholding taxes has
been made, because it is expected that such earnings will be
reinvested overseas indefinitely. Determination of the amount
of unrecognized deferred tax liability on these unremitted
earnings is not practical.

Deferred income taxes arise because there are certain items
that are treated differently for financial accounting than for income
tax reporting purposes. An analysis of the deferred income tax
assets and Habilities at October 31 in millions of dollars follows:

2004 2003
Deferred  Deferred  Deferred  Deferred
Tax Tax Tax Tax
Assets  Liabilities  Assets  Liabilities
Postretirement benefit accruals........ $1,017 3 911
Prepaid pension Costs..............cc.... $ 778 $ 215
Accrual for sales allowances............ 304 266
Tax over book depreciation .............. 263 215
Deferred lease income 159 169
Accrual for employee benefits.......... 126 60
Aliowance for credit I0SSES .....vvcrrrionne. 79 79
Tax loss and tax credit camyforwards.... 55 37
Undistributed foreign earnings .......... 44 20
Intercompany profit in inventory ....... 36 21
Minimum pension liability
adjustiment..........ccocoveeeiivie i 30 636
Other IBMS .ovvvcvcecie e 122 60 - 103 49

Deferred income tax

assets and liabilities $1,769 $1,304 $2113 $ 0668

Deere & Company files a consolidated federal income tax
return in the U.S., which includes the wholly-owned Financial
Services subsidiaries. These subsidiaries account for income taxes
generally as if they filed separate income tax returns.

At October 31, 2004, certain tax loss and tax credit
carryforwards for $55 million were available with $35 million
expiring from 2007 through 2022 and $20 million with an
unlimited expiration date.




5. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

7. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

The major components of ‘other income and other operating

expenses consisted of the following in millions of dollars:

2004 2003 2002
Other income
Gains from sales of retail notes and leases*.. $ 50 $ 54 $ 81
Securitization and servicing fee income......... 58 55 50
Revenues from SBrviCes .......cc..cvcvrcivninn, 103 45 5
Investment income 12 11 12
eI L e, 128 80 - 75
TOL. vt $ 351 $ 245 $269
Other operating expenses
Depreciation of equipment on
0PErating 168S8S ....vvvvvvecrieirioerirenrnnon, $239  $273  $316
Cost of services 55 20 31
OtBI™ ™™ e v v 39 32 63
TOW oo, $333 $ 325 $410

*Includes securitizations and othef sales of retail notes and leases.
= Includes gain from the sale of Sunstate Equipment Co., LLC in 2004 (see Note 1).
***Includes Argentine peso devaluat‘ion losses in 2002.

6. UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATED COMPANIES

Unconsolidated affiliated companies are companies in which
Deere & Company generally owns 20 percent to 50 percent of the
outstanding voting shares. Deere & Company does not control
these companies and accounts for its investments in them on the
equity basis. The investments in these companies primarily consist of
Deere-Hitachi Construction Machinery Corporation (50 percent
ownership), Bell Equ1pment Limited (32 percent ownership) and
A&l Products (36 percent \ownershlp) During 2004, the company
increased its minority ownership in Nortrax, Inc., Nortrax
Investments, Inc. and Ontrac Holdings, Inc. to lOO percent, at
which time they were consolidated, and the company sold its
minority ownership in Sungtate Equipment Co., LLC (see Note 1).
The unconsolidated affiliated companies primarily manufacture
or market equipment. Deere & Company’s share of the income of
these comipanies is reported in the consolidated income staternent
under “Equity in Income (Loss) of Unconsolidated Affiliates.”
The investment in these companies is reported in the consolidated
balance sheet under “Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates.”
Combined financial information of the unconsolidated
affiliated companies in mﬂ‘lions of dollars is as follows:

Operations ! 2004 2003 2002
SAIBS covvveer s [T $1798 $1929 $1,605
Net income (10S8) ..c..vvvvecviniiee TP 2 23 (38)
Deere & Company’s equity in
net income (108s) ......cceevriin AT 1 9 (25
Financial Position 2004 2003
Total SSEtS.....overrriviveee, e e $ 839 $1,297
Total external borrowings.......... SRR 173 384
Total net asSetS....ccvivevirrinna bicrarinneeenen et eeans 253 445
Deere & Company’s share of
107 196

the net assets....o.occnninnny Pt e
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Marketable securities are currently held by the health care
subsidiaries. All marketable securities are classified as available-
for-sale, with unrealized gains and losses shown as a component
of stockholders’ equity. Realized gains or losses from the sales
of marketable securities are based on the specific identification
method.

The amortized cost and fair value of marketable securities
at October 31 in millions of dollars follow:

Amortized  Gross Gross
Cost  Unrealized Unrealized Fair
or Cost Gains Losses Value
2004
Equity Securities..........co.ooierionnns $25 $ 3 $ 28
U.S. government debt securities ..... 73 2 $ 1 74
Corporate debt securities............... 72 2 74
Mortgage-backed debt securities .. 70 1 _1
Marketable securities............. $240 % 8 $ 1 ?ﬁi
2003
Equity secUrties. ..o $25 § 3 $ 1 $ 27
U.S. govemment debt securities ..... 62 2 64
Corporate debt securities............... 81 4 i 34
Mortgage-backed debt securities.. 57 1 1 57
Marketable securities............. $225 %10 $ 3 $232

|

The contractual maturities of debt securities at October 31,
2004 in millions of dollars follow:

Amortized Fair

Cost Velue

DUE N ONB YBAT OF JBSS...cvvievviiii it $ 9 $ 9
Due after one through five years.... 63 66
Due after five through 10 years..... 67 68
Oue after 10 years................ 76 _@
Debt SECUIHES...........c..ccovierrier oo, $215 $219

Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities
because some securities may be called or prepaid. Proceeds from
the sales of available-for-sale securities were $34 million in 2004,
$20 million in 2003 and $34 mullion in 2002. Realized gains and
losses,unrealized gains and losses, and the increase (decrease) in the
net unrealized gains or losses were not significant in those years.
The unrealized losses at October 31, 2004 were primarily the
result of an increase in interest rates affecting the fair value of
certain debt securities. The company has the ability and intent
to hold these investments for a recovery of the cost.




8. TRADE ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

9. FINANCING RECEIVABLES

Trade accounts and notes receivable at October 31 consisted of
the following in millions of dollars:

Financing receivables at October 31 consisted of the following in
millions of dollars:

2004 2003 2004 2003
Trade accounts and notes: Retail notes:
AGHCUILIAL ...vvvovs e $1838 $1711" Equipment:
Commercial and CONSUMET .....ver oo veesr s 793 683 AQrICURURAL...cc..ccov oo $5713  §499%
CONStrUCHON and fOrESINY ...ovvvvvovvo e eeevcrs s 576 2085 Commercial and CONSUMET ..........ocvecercvrrirnnren. 1,161 1,092
Trade accaunts and ntes receablo—net ... $3207  $261 AL T e W 1O
" Restated to include special technologies group (see Note 27). TOUR o 8,698 7,716
As October 31,2004 and 2003, deder notes ncluded i pou R o ST
the previous table were $411 million and $428 million, and the FINANCING IBBSES oo '803 759
allowance for doubtful trade receivables was $56 million and ODBIAHNG 08NS .crv e cerreereeerreeconreses e 380 543
$58 million, respectively. Tota! fiNANCING FECENADIES v 12335 11010
The Equipment Operations sell a significant portion of Less: -
newly originated trade receivables to the credit operations and Unearned finance income:
provide compensation to the credit operations at market rates EQUIDMENT IOLES .. evevereneseesssees e 834 755
of interest for these receivables. Recreational product notes .. 22 34
Trade accounts and notes receivable primarily arise from FINANCing 18a8ES..........covvvverissnsvicisnnriverinnnnirns 101 98
sales of goods to dealers. Under the terms of the sales to dealers, TOMAL e 957 887
incerest is charged to dealers on outstanding balances, from the Allowance for doubtful receivables ... 145 149
eatlier of the date when goods are sold to retail customers by the Financing receivables — net.......................... $11233 $9074

dealer or the expiration of certain interest-free periods granted at
the time of the sale to the dealer, until payment is received by the
company. Dealers cannot cancel purchases after the equipment is

shipped and are responsible for payment even if the equipment

is not sold to retail customers. The interest-free periods are deter-
mined based on the type of equipment sold and the time of year

of the sale. These periods range from one to 12 months for most -

equipment. Interest-free periods may not be extended. Interest
charged may not be forgiven and interest rates, which exceed the
prime rate, are set based on market factors. The company evaluates
and assesses dealers on an ongoing basis as to their credit worthiness
and generally retains a security interest in the goods associated with
these trade receivables. The company is obligated to repurchase
goods sold to a dealer upon cancellation or termination of the
dealer’s contract for such causes as change in ownership, closeout
of the business or default. The company may also in certain
circumstances repurchase goods sold to a dealer in order to satisfy
a request for goods from another dealer.

Trade accounts and notes receivable have significant
concentrations of credit risk in the agricultural, commercial
and consumer, and construction and forestry sectors as shown
in the previous table. On a geographic basis, there is not a
disproportionate concentration of credit risk in any area.

m———

Financing receivables have significant concentrations of
credit risk in the agricultural, commercial and consumer, and
construction and forestry sectors as shown in the previous table.
On a geographic basis, there is not a disproportionate concentration
of credit risk in any area. The company retains as collateral a
security interest in the equipment associated with retail notes,
wholesale notes and financing leases.

Financing receivable installments, including unearned
finance income, at October 31 are scheduled as follows in
millions of dollars:

2004 2003
Due in months:

$ 5933 ¢ 5282

2,486 2,194

1,822 1,602

1,131 1,101

729 607

228 224

$12,335  $11,010

The maximum terms for retail notes are generally eight
years for agricultural equipment, six years for commercial and
consumer equipment and five years for construction and forestry
equipment. The maximum term for financing leases is generally
five years, while the average term for wholesale notes is 12 months.
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At Qctober 31, 2004 fand 2003, the unpaid balances of retail
notes and leases previously scld by the credit operations were
$3,398 million and $2,916 million, respectively The retail notes sold
are collateralized by secunty interests in the related equipment sold
to customers. At October 31, 2004 and 2003, worldwide financing
receivables administered, which include financing receivables and
leases previously sold but stlll administered, totaled $14,631 million
and $12,890 million, respectlvely.

Total financing receivable amounts 60 days or more past due
were $41 million at Octobér 31, 2004, compared with $51 million
at October 31, 2003. These| past-due amounts represented
.36 percent of the receivables financed at October 31, 2004 and
.50 percent at October 31,
financing receivables represénted 1.28 percent and 1.47 percent
of financing receivables outstanding at October 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. In addition, at October 31,2004 and 2003, the
company’s credit operations had $184 million and $175 million,
respectively, of deposits withheld from dealers and merchants
available for potential credit losses. An analysis of the allowance
for doubtful financing receivables follows in millions of dollars:”

2004 2003 2002

Balance, beginning of the year ......c...c.coccviervnenn, $149 $136 $126

Provision charged 10 0perations.........ccccocviirnviinn, 43 84 156

Amounts wWritten off.......co.cove e (37) 56) (128)
Other changes primarily related 16 transfers for

refail NOE SAIBS . ..ov.ivcrierie i g @5 (18

Balance, end of the year................................ $ 145 $149 3136

10. SALE AND SECURITIZATION OF FINANCING RECEIVABLES

The company periodically|sells receivables to special purpose
entities (SPEs) in securitizations of retail notes. It retains interest-
only strips, servicing rights, and in some cases, reserve accounts

and subordinated certificatés, all of which are retained interests

in the securitized receivables. The retained interests are carried

at estimated fair value in “Other receivables” or “Other assets”

on the balance sheet. Gains or losses on sales of the receivables
depend in part on the previous carrying amount of the financial
assets involved in the transfer, allocated between the assets sold
and the retained interests based on their relative fair values at the
date of transfer. The company generally estimates fair values based
on the present value of future expected cash flows using manage-
ment’s key assumptions as discussed below. The company retains
the rights to certain future|cash flows and in the U.S. transactions
receives annual servicing fees approximating 1 percent of the
outstanding balance. No significant balances for servicing assets or
liabilities exist because the benefits received for servicing are offset
by the costs of providing the servicing. The company’s maximum
exposure under recourse provmons related to securitizations at
October 31,2004 and 2003 was $218 million and $236 million,
respectively. The recourse provisions include the fair value of the
retained interests and all other recourse obligations contractually
specified in the securitization agreements. The company does

not record the other recourse obligations as liabilities as they are
contingent liabilities that are remote at this time. Except for this
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exposure, the investors and securitization trusts have no recourse to
the company for failure of debtors to pay when due. The company’s
retained interests are subordinate to investors’ interests, and their
values are subject to certain key assumptions as shown below:.
The total assets of the unconsolidated SPEs related to securitizations
at October 31,2004 and 2003 were $3,441 million and $2,964
million, respectively.

Pretax gains in millions of dollars on retail notes securitized
and key assumptions used to inidally determine the fair value of
the retained interests were as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Pretax gains ......oevvvvoeevinicves e e $ 48 $ 50 $ 7
Weighted-average maturities in months........ 20 21 19
Average annual prepayment rates................ 20% 19% 22%
Average expected annual credit losses...... .38% 42% 42%
Discount rates on retained interests
and subordinate tranches ... vvveene 13% 13% 13%

Cash flows received from securitization trusts in millions
of dollars were as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Proceeds from new securitizations ............... $2,269  $1,801 $2.870
Servicing fees received ........oo..... ’ 30 24 28
Other cash flows received 66 49 103

Components of retained interests in securitization of retail
notes at October 31 in millions of dollars follow:

2004 2003

INterest OnlY SHIDS.......cvvvrriees e e s $ 70 $ 104
Reserve accounts held for benefit of

Securttization entities ... 43 30

Subordinated certificates.........ovivriiniiiiee s 16 - 12

Retained interests ..., $129 $ 146

The total retained interests, weighted-average life, weighted-
average current key economic assumptions and the sensitivity
analysis showing the hypothetical effects on the retained interésts
from immediate 10 percent and 20 percent adverse changes i
those assumptions with dollars in millions were as follows:

2004 2003
Retail note securitizations
Carrying amount/fair value of retained interests ..., $129 $ 146
Weighted-average [ife (in months) ......ccooeovriverrnncinimnns 16 16
Prepayment speed assumption (annual rate) .................... 20% 20%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ................ $18 $ 19
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ............... $36  $ 38
Expected credit 1osses (annual rate) .....cc..ocovvvivrervverrvnionrae 40% 40%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ................ $20 $ 18
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ................ $ 40 $ 36
Residual cash flows discount rate @nnual) .......cooeevvviinnns 13% 13%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ................ $ 36 $ 36
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ......c........ $ 71 $70

These sensitivities are hypothetical changes in fair value and
cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the changes
in assumption to the changes in fair value may not be linear.




Also, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption is calculated
without changing any other assumption, whereas changes in one
factor may result in changes in another. Accordingly, no assurance
can be given that actual results would be consistent with the results
of these estimates.

Principal balances of owned, securitized and total managed
retail notes; past due amounts; and credit losses (net of recoveries) as
of and for the years ended October 31, in millions of dollars follow:

Principal Principal 60 Days or ~ Net Credit

Outstanding More Past Due Losses
2004
OwWned ..., $ 7648 $ 20 $9
Securitized ......coveeionnsiennns 3,215 10 5
Managed.......c...ccovveerninnrian. $ 10,863 $ 30 $14
2003
OWNed ..vvvcv s $ 6,759 $ 30 $27
Securitized ..o, 2,752 12 11
Managed...........cooivevrrieronns $ 951 $ 42 $38

|

The amount of actual and projected future credit losses
as a percent of the original balance of retail notes securitized
(expected static pool losses) were as follows:

Retail Notes Securitized In
2004 2003 2002

Actual and Projected Losses (%) as of October 31:
59%  49%  50%
67%  53%

61%

11. OTHER RECEIVABLES
Other receivables at October 31 consisted of the following in
millions of dollars:

‘ 2004 2003
TAXES BCEIVADIR ..ot enear e eseee $ 424 $176
Receivables relating 1o securitizations. 113 134
OERBT sttt 126 118
Other receivables..............c...c..cccoovvvieesioevovinsiiennionen s $ 663 $ 428

The credit operations’ receivables related to securitizations
are equal to the present value of payments to be received for
certain retained interests and deposits made with other entities
for recourse provisions under the retail note sales agreements.

12. EQUIPMENT ON OPERATING LEASES

Operating leases arise primarily from the leasing of John Deere
equipment to retail customers. Initial lease terms generally range
from 36 to 60 months. Net equipment on operating leases totaled
$1,297 million and $1,382 million at October 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the terms of the leases. The accumulated depreciation on this
equipment was $468 million and $535 million at October 31, 2004
and 2003, respectively. The corresponding depreciation expense
was $239 million in 2004, $273 million in 2003 and $316 million
in 2002.

Future payments to be received on operating leases totaled
$676 million at October 31, 2004 and are scheduled as follows
in millions of dollars: 2005 — $284, 2006 — $199, 2007 — $114,
2008 — $59 and 2009 — $20.

13. INVENTORIES

Most inventories owned by Deere & Company and its -
United States equipment subsidiaries are valued at cost, on the
“last-1n, first=out” (LIFO) basis. Remaining inventories are
generally valued at the lower of cost, on the “first-in, first-out”
(FIFO) basis, or market. The value of gross inventories on the
LIFO basis represented 61 percent and 67 percent of worldwide
gross inventories at FIFO value on October 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. If all inventories had been valued on a FIFO basis,
estimated inventories by major classification at October 31 in
millions of dollars would have been as follows:

_ 2004 2003
Raw materials and SUPPIIES........cco.vuuvvvvsvvvssivccsions $ 580 $ 4%
WOTK-IN-PrOCESS ..ot 408 388
Finished machines and pans.........c.cccoeoevvvievvrenicnecmninans 2,004 1,432
Total FFO value 3,001 2,316
Less adjustment to LIFO value... 1,002 950
IYEREOTIES ... oo, 51,899 § 1,366

14. PROPERTY AND DEPRECIATION

A summary of property and equipment at October 31 in millions
of dollars follows:

Average
Useful Lives
(Years) 2004 2003
LANG v $ 79 ¢ 68
Buildings and building equipment........... 26 1,464 1,366
Machinery and equipment 10 2,870 2,705
Dies, patterns, tools, efc ........ 7 987 932
AlLOBT oo 5 626 671
Construction in progress..........ceeevvennens : 156 92
Total At COSE..vvvvieeriricrrinirn s 6,182 5,834
Less accumulated depreciation............... 4,020 3,758
Property and equipment - net........ $2162 $2076

Leased property under capital leases amounting to
$13 million and $19 million at October 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively, is included in property and equipment.

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation. Property and equipment additions in 2004, 2003

- and 2002 were $365 million, $320 million and $358 million and

depreciation was $342 million, $319 mullion and $310 mullion,
respectively.

Capitalized software is stated at cost less accumulated
amortization and the estimated useful life is three years.
The amounts of total capitalized software costs, including purchased
and internally developed software, classified as “Other Assets” at
October 31, 2004 and 2003 were $315 million and $276 million,

less accumulated amortization of $240 million and $207 million,
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respectively. Amortization of these software costs was $38 million,
in 2004, 2003 and 2002.



The cost of compliance with foreseeable environmental
requirements has been accrued and did not have a material effect
on the company’s financial position or results of operations.

15. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS-NET

Upon the adoption of FASB Statement No. 142, Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets, at the beginning of fiscal year 2003,
goodwill was no longer amortized and will be written down
in the future only for impairments. Goodwill is reviewed for
impairment by reporting umt based on fair values annually or
as events and circumstances change.

Pro forma net income and net income per share, excluding
goodwill amortization, were as follows with dollars in millions
except per share amounts:

2004 2003 2002

Net income as reported ..........ccccovvvvevirr s $1406 $ 643 § 319
Goodwill amortization, net of taX..........c........ 53
Pro forma net inCome .......ooevvrivirnnevcnnnnnan, $1406 $ 643 $ 372
Basic net income per share:

Net income as reported ......c...civveveiviinn s $ 560 $ 268 $ 134

Goodwill amortization, net of tax...........c....... 22

Pro forma Net iNCOME ......v.vvevvir v, $ 569 $ 268 $ 156
Diluted net income per share;
Net income as reported ......c.covviveeerinienne, $ 556 $ 264 $ 1.33
Goodwill amortization, net of tax 22
Pro forma net INCOME ..........oocevevvres e $ 55 $ 264 $ 155
The amounts of goodwill by operating segment were as

follows in millions of dollars:

2004* 2003
Agricultural €QUIDMEN .. .......cv.ieevrrienr e oo, 101§ 94
Commercial and consumer equipment 299 305
Construction and forestry.......cooomr e 574 473
Total goodwill ... $ 974 ¢ 872

* The change in goodwill betwee’p years for construction and forestry was primarily
due to $73 million goodwill from the additional acquisition and consclidation of
Nortrax {see Note 1). The remaining changes are dug to fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates.

** Restated to include special technologies group (see Note 27).

The components of other intangible assets are as follows in

millions of dollars:

2004 2003

- Amortized intangible assets:
Gross patents, licenses and OtheT ..........oevvveveervvrnrernreee $ 12 ¢ 9
Accumulated amortization ........o.covvcinrivnrisenrnninns 8) (®)
Net patents, licenses and OtHer .....oe.convrrvcniriierenannnn, 4 3

Unamortized intangible assets: ;
Intangible asset related to minimum
pension liability ............... s 250

Total other intangibie asseits-net

Other intangible assets, excluding the intangible pension
asset, are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and are
being amortized over 17 years or less on the straight-line basis.
The intangible pension asset is remeasured and adjusted annually.

The decrease in the intangible pension asset is a result of the
decrease in the minimum pension liability due primarily to
voluntary company contributions to the pension plan and the
return on plan assets, The amortization of other intangible
assets is not significant.

16. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

Short-term borrowings at October 31 consisted of the following
in millions of dollars:

2004 2003
Equipment Operations
COmMMErCIal PAPBL .v.vv. e v et eeerss s $ 258 $ 279
Notes payable 10 banks ... s 19 35
Long-term borrowings due within one year ...l 35 o 2_6§
TOMBL .o e 312 L 577
Financial Services
COMMEICIAl PADET ... .veverrirer et cren s s 1,629 1,836
Notes payable 10 Danks ..o 32 66
Long-term borrowings due within one year.............o....... 1,485 _1 ﬁB_
TOMAl evvv et et e 3146 3770

$4,347

The weighted-average interest rates on total short-term
borrowings, excluding current maturities of long-term borrowings,
at October 31,2004 and 2003 were 2.8 percent and 2.3 percent,
respectively. All of the Financial Services’ short-term borrowings
represent obligations of the credit subsidiaries. :

Unsecured lines of credit available from U.S. and foreign banks
were $3,190 million at October 31, 2004, Some of these credit
lines are available to both Deere & Company and John Deere
Capital Corporation. At October 31, 2004, $900 million of
these worldwide lines of credit were unused. For the purpose
of computing the unused credit lines, commercial paper and
short-term bank borrowings, excluding the current maturities of
long-term borrowings, were considered to constitute utilization.

Included in the above lines of credit is a long-term credit
facility agreement expiring in February 2009 for $1,250 million.
The agreement is mutually extendable and the annual facility fee
is not significant. The credit agreement has various requirements
of John Deere Capital Corporation, including the maintenance of
its consolidated ratio of earnings to fixed charges at not less than
1.05 to 1 for each fiscal quarter and the ratio of senior debt to
total stockholder’ equity plus subordinated debt at not more than
8 to 1 at the end of any fiscal quarter. The credit agreement also
requires the Equipment Operations to mairitain a ratio of total
debt to total capital (total debt and stockholders’ equity) of
65 percent or less at the end of each fiscal quarter according to
accounting principles generally accepted in the US. in effect at
October 31, 2003. At October 31, 2004, the ratio was 32 percent.
Under this provision, the company’s excess equity capacity and
retained earnings balance free of restriction at October 31, 2004

© was $4,756 million. Alternatively under this provision, the

Equipment Operations had the capacity to incur additional debt
of $8,832 million at October 31, 2004. All the requirements of
the credit agreement have been met during the periods included
in the financial statements.




Deere & Company has an agreement with John Deere
Capital Corporation (Capital Corporation) pursuant to which
it has agreed to continue to own at least 51 percent of the
voting shares of capital stock of the Capital Corporation and
to maintain the Capital Corporation’s consolidated tangible net
worth at not less than $50 million. This agreement also obligates
Deere & Company to make income maintenance payments to the
Capital Corporation such that its consolidated ratio of earnings
before fixed charges to fixed charges is not less than 1.05 to 1
for any fiscal quarter. Deere & Company’s obligations to make
payments to the Capital Corporation under the agreement are
independent of whether the Capital Corporation is in default
on its indebtedness, obligations or other liabilities. Further, the
company’s obligations under the agreement are not measured by
the amount of the Capital Corporation’s indebtedness, obligations
or other liabilities. Deere & Company’s obligations to make
payments under this agreement are expressly stated not to be a
guaranty of any specific indebtedness, obligation or Lability of
the Capital Corporation and are enforceable only by or in the
name of the Capital Corporation. No payments were required
under this agreement during the periods included in the
financial statements.

17. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accounts payable and accrued expenses at October 31 consisted
of the following in millions of dollars:

2004 2003
Equipment Operations
Accounts payable:
Trade payableS.........cccoov..... $ 912
Dividends payable 53
ORBT et e e s 58
Accrued expenses:
Employee benefits 79 349
Product warranties 458 389
Dealer sales program diSCOUMS.......c.ovviierviveiininns 287 261
Dealer sales volume diSCOUNTS......cccovorrivriiinrcenrieni 224 137
OBT ..o e 619 613
L1 3,684 2,772
Financial Services
Accounts payable:
Deposits withheld from dealers and merchants.............. 184 175
OHRBI ...t et 239 234
Accrued expenses:
interest payable..........c.oocoviviinr i 85 79
OHNBT....ccos et 123 153
TOal ..o e 631 641
EMINAONS ..vvvveicc e e e KlAN 307"
Accounts payable and accrued expenses .............. $3,974 $3,108

* Trade receivable valuation accounts {primarily dealer sales program discounts)
which are reclassified as accrued expenses by the Equipment Operations as a result
of trade receivables sold to Financial Services.

18. LONG-TERM BORROWINGS

Long-term borrowings at October 31 consisted of the following
in millions of dollars:

2004 2003
Equipment Operations**
Notes and debentures:
Medium-term notes due 2006:
Average interest rates of 9.2% — 2004
and 9.6% —2003.........cccovimmivrrverirniins i $ 20 $ 45
5-7/8% U.S. dollar notes due 2006: $250 principal)
Swapped $170 to Euro at average variable
interest rates of 3.1% - 2004, 2.7% — 2003........... 250" 257"
7.85% debentures dug 2010 .....c..ooovieeriienrieirceriees 500 500
6.95% notes due 2014: ($700 principal)
Swapped to variable interest rates
0f 3.1% — 2004, 2.1% = 2003......coevvivierrieces 786" 771
8.95% debentures due 2019 200 200
8-1/2% debentures due 2022 ...........cco.ovvvvevveiernrerins 200 200
6.55% debentures due 2028 .......c.ovoevreeienriaresinnennas 200 200
8.10% debentures due 2030 .... 250 250
7.125% notes dug 2037 ...rivviieiee oo 300 300
ONEM NOES et ettt 22 4
TOMAL et e s 2,728 2,727
Financial Services**
Notes and debentures;
Medium-term notes due 2005 — 2009:
(principal $3,443 - 2004, $2,696 - 2003)
Average interest rates of 3.9% — 2004,
3A4% = 2003 .o 3459 2714
5.125% debentures due in 2006: (3600 principal)
Swapped $300 to variable interest rates
of 2.7% — 2004, 1.8% = 2003......oceviierrvirirrirnnins 620" 632"
4.5% notes due 2007: ($500 principal)
Swapped $300 in 2004 and $450 in 2003
to variable interest rates of 2.4% — 2004,
1.8% — 2003 v 510 511~
3.90% notes due 2008: ($850 principal)
Swapped $525 in 2004 and $650 in 2003
to variable interest rates of 2.6% — 2004,
17% = 2003 oovirccer v e e e 850" 851*
6% notes due 2009: ($300 principal)
Swapped to variable interest rates
of 1.9% — 2004, 1.4% — 2003......coccovvveevirriiienes 327" 329
7% notes due 2012: ($1,500 principal)
Swapped $1,225 to variable interest rates
0f 2.9% — 2004, 2.1% ~ 2003,...ovcvevierrieninns 1,674 1,665
5.10% debentures due 2013: (3650 principal)
Swapped to variable interest rates
0f 2.7% — 2004, 1.8% = 2003.........coomvivrrierrinn, 658" 641*
OB NOES ...ttt 264 184
Total notes and debentures ...........cceviveeeveviieeiineen, 8,362 7,527
Subordinated debt:
8-5/8% subordinated debentures due 2019*** 150
TOMAL oo e 8,362 7,677
Long-term Borrowings ... ivvssonnescennns $11,090 $10,404

*Includes fair value adjustments related to interest rate swaps.
** All interest rates are as of year end.
***Redeemed during 2004.




All of the Financial \Ser\nces long-term borrowings
represent obligations of the credit subsidiaries.

The approximate amounts of the Equipment Operations’
long-term borrowings maturing in each of the next five years in
millions of dollars are as follows 2005 — $35, 2006 - $277,
2007 - $4, 2008 - $2 and 2009 — $6.The approximate amounts
of the credit subsidiaries’ 10ng—term borrowings maturing in each
of the next five years in millions of dollars are as follows:

2005 - $1,485, 2006 — $2,766, 2007 — $1,627, 2008 — $1,011
and 2009 — $530.

19. LEASES

At October 31,2004, futlire minimum lease payments under
capital leases amounted to $12 million as follows: 2005 — §2,
2006 — $2,2007 — $1,2008 — $1,2009 — $1 and later years $5.
Total rental expense for operating leases was $102 million in
2004, $98 million in 200;5 and $95 million in 2002. At October
31, 2004, future minimurn lease payments under operating leases
amounted to $367 million as follows: 2005 — $75, 2006 — $67,
2007 — $63, 2008 — $32, 2009 — $27 and later years $103.

See Note 20 for operating leases with residual value guarantees.

20. CONTINGENGIES AND COMMITMENTS

The company generally determines its total warranty liability by
applying historical claims rate experience to the estimated amount
of equipment that has been sold and is still under warranty based
on dealer inventories and retail sales. The historical claims rate is
primarily determined by a review of five-year claims costs and
current quality developmients.

A reconciliation of lthe changes in the warranty liability in
millions of dollars follows:

Warranty Liability

2004 2003
Beginning of year balanCe...............ccv.oevvvemeccieeiicesesn e $ 389 § 332
Payments (378} (321
Accruals for Warranties ... s 447 378
End of year BalanCe ........coovvie e iees e $ 458 § 389

The company has guaranteed certain recourse obligations on
financing receivables that it has sold. If the receivables sold are not
collected, the company would be required to cover those losses up
to the amount of its recourse obligation, At October 31, 2004, the
maximum amount of exposure to losses under these agreements was
$218 million. The estimated credit risk associated with sold
receivables totaled $23 million at October 31, 2004, This risk of
loss is recognized primarily in the retained interests (see Note 10).
The company may recover a portion of any required payments
incurred under these agreements from the repossession of the
equipment collateralizing the receivables. At October 31, 2004,
the maximum remaining term of the receivables guaranteed was
approximately six years,

At October 31,2004, the company had guaranteed
approximately $40 millign of residual values for two operating
leases related to an administrative and a manufacturing building.
The company is obligated at the end of each lease term to pay

\
to the lessor any reduction in market value of the leased property
up to the guaranteed residual value. The company recognizes the

expense for these future estimated lease payments over the terms
of the operating leases and had accrued expenses of $9 millien
related to these agreements at October 31, 2004. The leases have
terms expiring in 2006 and 2007.

At October 31,2004, the company had approximately
$95 million of guarantees issued primarily to overseas banks related
to third-party receivables for the retail financing of John Deere
equipment. The company may recover a portion of any required
payments incurred under these agreements from repossession of
the equipment collateralizing the receivables. At October 31, 2004,
the company had accrued losses of approximately $1 million
under these agreements. The maximum remaining term of the
receivables guaranteed at October 31,2004 was approximately
SIX years.

The company had pledged assets of $16 million, outside
the U.S,, as collateral for borrowings, and $15 million of restricted
investments related to conducting the health care business in
various states at October 31, 2004.

The company also had other miscellaneous contingent
liabilities totaling approximately $30 million at October 31, 2004,
for which it believes the probability for payment is remote.

John Deere B.V,, located in the Netherlands, is a consolidated
indirect wholly-owned finance subsidiary of the company.The debt
securities of John Deere B.V,, including those which are registered
with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, are fully and
unconditionally guaranteed by the company. These registered debt
securities totaled $250 mullion at October 31, 2004 and are
included on the consolidated balance sheet.

The company is subject to various unresolved legal actions
which arise in the normal course of its business, the most prevalent
of which relate to product liability (including asbestos related
liability), retail credit, software licensing, patent and trademark
matters. Although it is not possible to predict with certainty the
outcome of these unresolved legal actions or the range of possible
loss, the company believes these unresolved legal actions will not
have a material effect on its financial statements.

21. CAPITAL STOCK

Changes in the common stock account in millions were as follows:

Number of

Shares Issued  Amount
Balance at October 31, 2001 ... 268.2 $1,949
OHNBT oo e o —8
Balance at October 31, 2002.........cccocvvvvriireiinierinnns 268.2 1,957
DR8I cv e e o ﬂ
Balance at October 31,2003 ..o 268.2 1,988
OtRBT e et e o _5§
Balance at October 31,2004................c..ccceevevn. 268.2 $2,044

The number of common shares the company is authorized
to issue is 600 million and the number of authorized preferred
shares, none of which has been issued, is 9 million.




A reconciliation of basic and diluted net income per share
follows in millions, except per share amounts:

2004 2003 2002

NEtINCOME ... v, $1406.1 $6431 $319.2
Average shares outstanding .........ccoo.oeeeren. 247.2 240.2 2382
Basic net income per share..................... $§ 569 $ 268 $ 134
Average shares outstanding ..o 247.2 240.2 238.2
Effect of dilutive stock options ......ccccvve.. 59 33 2.7

Total potential shares outstanding ............ 253.1 243.3 2409
Diluted net income per share 556 $ 264 $ 133

Out of the total stock options outstanding during 2002,
options to purchase 2.8 million shares were excluded from
the above diluted per share computation because the options’
exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the
company’s common stock during the related periods. All stock
options outstanding were included in the computation during

2004 and 2003.
22. STOCK OPTION AND RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS

The company issues stock options and restricted stock to key
employees under plans approved by stockholders. Restricted stock
is also issued to nonemployee directors under a plan approved

by stockholders. Options are generally awarded with the exercise
 price equal to the market price and become exercisable in one
to three years after grant. Options generally expire 10 years after
the date of grant. According to these plans at October 31,2004,
the company is authorized to grant an additional 9.4 million shares
related to stock options or restricted stock.

During the last three fiscal years, shares under option in

millions were as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price* Shares  Price*  Shares  Price”
Outstanding at
beginning of year ..... 21.2  $4257 229 $4158 205 $40.56
Granted —at market.... 3.3 6164 3.9 4580 43 4230
Exercised.......oocovrnn . (6.2) 4142 (48 3630 (1.6 3035
Expired or forfeited..... (1) 4755 (8 6868 (3) 4182
Outstanding at
end of year .............. 182 4640 212 4257 229 4158
Exercisable at
end of year .............. 11,3 4267 131 4180 129 39.28
* Weighted-averages s
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Options outstanding and exercisable in miflions at
October 31, 2004 were as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Remaining

Range of Contractual Exercise Exercise
Exercise Prices Shares  Life fyrs)~  Price*  Shares  Price”
$21.02-$34.13.... 14 3.33 $31.99 14 $31.99
$36.37 — $41.47 ..... 2.4 5.08 4130 24 41.30
$42.07 - $47.36 ..... 10.0 6.92 43,50 6.3 4290
$50.97 - $61.64 ..... 4.4 7.55 60.02 12 55.81
Total. v 18.2 11.3

* Weighted-averages

n 2004, 2003, and 2002, the company granted 241,860,
196,294 and 12,711 shares of restricted stock with weighted-
average fair values of $61.83, $45.29 and $48.43 per share,
respectively. The total compensation expense for the restricted
stock plans, which is being amortized over the restricted periods,
was $8 mullion, $4 million and $2 million in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

23. EMPLOYEE INVESTMENT AND SAVINGS PLANS

The company has defined contribution plans related to
employee investment and savings plans primarily in the U.S.

Company contributions and costs under these plans were $43
million in 2004, $25 million in 2003 and $21 mullion in 2002,

24. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME [TEMS

Other comprehensive income items under FASB Statement
No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Inconte, are transactions
recorded in stockholders’ equity during the year, excluding net
income and transactions with stockholders. Following are the
items included in other comprehensive income (loss) and the
related tax effects in millions of dollars:

Before Tax After
Tax (Expense) Tax
Amount  Credit Amount
2002
$604 $(1,016)
®)
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives:
Hedging 10SS ... o.covvveee e B1) 21 {40)
Reclassification of realized
1085 10 NELINCOME.....ccovvvviiriiriir s 99 (34) 65
Net unrealized gain 38 (13) 25
Unrealized holding gain and net gain on
IMVESIMENTSY oot 2 1) 1
Total other comprehensive 108S..........cceuvvree $(1,588) $50 $ (998)

(continued)




Before Tax After
Tax (Expense) Tax
Amount  Credit Amount

2003
Minimum pension fiabifity adjustment........... $ (72 $ 26 $ (46
Cumuilative transfation adjustment................ 210 4 214
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives: .
Hedging 0SS ...t @1 14 27)
Reclassification of realized
10SS 10 NEL INCOME...c.iveierr v 79 27 52
Net unrealized gain............cocevniveenenins 38 (13) 25
Unrealized holding gain and net|gain on
INVESTMBNTS™ oo 9 3 6
Total other comprehensive income................. $ 185 $ 14 § 199
2004 ‘
Minimum pension liability adjustment............ $ 1627 $B06 $ 1,021
Cumulative transtation adjustment................ 86 2 88
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivat;ives:
Hedging 108 ....vcveivvrverranas e (19) 7 (12)
Reclassification of realized
loss to net income........... e 44 (16) 28
Net unrealized gain.......ocecioverviivirininn 25 © 16
Unrealized gain on investments: '
HOIAING Q21N 3 M 2
Reclassification of reafized gain to
NELINCOME . ovvrviiiveies e s 3) 1 2
Net unrealized gain.....................
Total other comprehensive income $ 1738 $(613) $ 1,125

* Reclassification of realized gaing or losses to net income were not material,

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of ﬁnancizjﬂ instruments which do not approximate
the carrying values in the financial statements at October 31 in
millions of dollars follow;

2004 2003
Carrying Fair  Carrying Fair
Value Value  Value Value

Financing receivables........,‘....‘ ............ $11233 $11,173 § 9,974 $ 9,994
Long-term borrowings
Equipment Operations.................... $ 2728 $ 3,149 $ 2727 $ 3,109
Financial SErvICES ...vvvvvcvrieriieie 8362 8770 7,677 7,687

Total. e $11,090 $11,919 $10,404 $10,796

Fair Value Estimates

Fair values of the long-térm financing receivables with fixed rates
were based on the discounted values of their related cash flows

at current market interest rates. The fair values of the remaining
financing receivables approximated the carrying amounts.

Fair values of longiterm borrowings with fixed rates were
based on the discounted|values of their related cash flows at
current market interest rates. Certain long-term borrowings have
been swapped to current variable interest rates. The carrying values
of these long-term borrowings include adjustments related to fair
value hedges.

Derivatives

It is the company’s policy that derivative transactions are executed
only to manage exposures arising in the normal course of business
and not for the purpose of creating speculative positions or trading.
The company’s credit operations manage the relationship of the
types and amounts of their funding sources to their receivable
and lease portfolio in an effort to diminish risk due to interest rate
and foreign currency fluctuations, while responding to favorable
financing opportunities. The company also has foreign currency
exposures at some of its foreign and domestic operations related
to buying, selling and financing in currencies other than the

local currencies.

Interest Rate Swaps

The company enters into interest rate swap agreements primarily
to more closely match the fixed or floating interest rates of the
credit operations’ borrowings to those of the assets being funded.

Certain interest rate swaps were designated as hedges of
future cash flows from commercial paper and variable interest
rate borrowings. The effective portion of the fair value gains
or losses on these cash flow hedges are recorded in other
comprehensive income and subsequently reclassified into interest
expense as payments are accrued and the swaps approach maturity.
These amounts offset the effects of interest rate changes on the
related borrowings. The amount of the loss recorded in other
comprehensive income at October 31,2004 that is expected to
be reclassified to earnings in the next 12 months if interest
rates remain unchanged is approximately $5 million after-tax.
These swaps mature in up to 43 months. '

Certain interest rate swaps were designated as fair value
hedges of fixed-rate, long-term borrowings. The effective portion
of the fair value gains or losses on these swaps were offset by fair
value adjustments in the underlying borrowings.

Any ineffective portions of the gains or losses on all cash
flow and fair value interest rate swaps designated as hedges were
recognized immediately in interest expense and were not marerial.
The amounts of gains or losses reclassified from unrealized in other
comprehensive income to realized in earnings as a result of the
discontinuance of cash flow hedges were not material. There were
no components of cash flow or fair value hedges that were excluded
from the assessment of effectiveness.

The company has certain interest rate swap agreements that
are not designated as hedges under FASB Statement No. 133 and
the fair value gains or losses are recognized directly in earnings.
These instruments relate to swaps that are used to facilitate certain
borrowings.

Foreign Exchange Forward Gontracts, Swaps and Options
The company has entered into foreign exchange forward contracts,
swaps and purchased options in order to manage the currency
exposure of certain receivables, liabilities, borrowings and expected
inventory purchases. These derivatives were not designated as
hedges under FASB Statement No. 133, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities. The fair value gains or losses
from these foreign currency derivatives are recognized directly in
earnings, generally offsetting the foreign exchange gains or losses
on the exposures being managed.



The company has designated cross currency interest rate swaps
as fair value hedges of certain long-term borrowings. The effective
portion of the fair value gains or losses on these swaps are offset
by fair value adjustments in the underlying borrowings and the
ineffectiveness was not material. The company has also designated
foreign exchange forward contracts and currency swaps as cash
flow hedges of long-term borrowings. The effective portion of
the fair value gains or losses on these forward contracts and swaps
is recorded in other comprehensive income and subsequently
reclassified into earnings as payments are accrued and these
instruments approach maturity. This offsets the exchange rate
effects on the borrowing being hedged and the ineffectiveness
was not material.

26. CASH FLOW INFORMATION

For purposes of the statement of consolidated cash flows, the
company considers investments with original maturities of three
months or less to be cash equivalents. Substantially all of the
company’s short-term borrowings, excluding the current maturines
of long-term borrowings, mature within three months or less.

The Equipment Operations sell most of their trade
receivables to Financial Services. These intercompany cash flows
are eliminated in the consolidated cash flows.

Cash payments for interest and income taxes consisted of
the following in millions of dollars:

2004 2003 2002

Interest;
Equipment Operations™ ........cc...oovvrerrenrivensionnnns $ 357 $ 354 $312
Financial SErVICES ......cccovvevvieviieecrie e 39 416 413
Intercompany eliminations™ ..........c.coecvvirnicenn i, 241)  (228) (187)
Consolidated ... $ 511 % 544 $538
Income taxes:
Equipment Operations........c..oovvevivvercerinccnienins $39B5 $§ 74 $188
Financial SErVICES ......coevvieiionrieniiiir s 167 182 13
Intercompany eliminations.........c...ccveeeeerienniinns (138) (1420 (118)

Consolidated $424 § 84 $201

*Includes interest compensation 1o Financial Services for financing trade receivables.

27. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC AREA DATA FOR THE YEARS
ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2004, 2003 AND 2002

The company’s operations are organized and reported in four
major business segments described as follows:

The agricultural equipment segment manufactures and
distributes a full line of farm equipment and related service parts
— including tractors; combine, cotton and sugarcane harvesters;
tillage, seeding and soil preparation machinery; sprayers; hay and
forage equipment; material handling equipment; and integrated
agricultural management systems technology. In 2004, the special
technologies group’s results were transferred from the “Other”
segment to the agricultural equipment segment due to changes
in internal reporting. The following information for the
agricultural segment has been restated for this change in 2003
and 2002. '

The commercial and consumer equipment segment
manufactures and distributes equipment, products and service parts
for commercial and residential uses — including small tractors for
lawn, garden, commercial and uality purposes; walk-behind mowers;
golf course equipment; utility vehicles (including those commonly
referred to as all-terrain vehicles, or “ATVs”); landscape products
and 1rrigation equipment; and other outdoor power products.

The construction and forestry segment manufactures,
distributes to dealers and sells at retail a broad range of machines
and service parts used in construction, earthmoving, material
handling and timber harvesting — including backhoe loaders;
crawler dozers and loaders; four-wheel-drive loaders; excavators;
motor graders; articulated dump trucks; landscape loaders;
skid-steer loaders; and log skidders, feller bunchers, log loaders,
log forwarders, log harvesters and related attachments.

The products and services produced by the equipment
segments are marketed primarily through independent retail
dealer networks and major retail outlets.

The credit segment primarily finances sales and leases by
John Deere dealers of new and used agricultural, commercial and

© consumer, and construction and forestry equipment. In addition,
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it provides wholesale financing to dealers of the foregoing
equipment, provides operating loans, finances retail revolving charge
accounts and plans to offer certain crop risk mitigation products.
Certain operations do not meet the materiality threshold
of FASB Statement No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information, and have been grouped
together as an “Other” segment. In 2004, the special technologies
group’s results, which were previously included in the “Other”
segment, were transferred to the agricultural equipment segment
due to changes in internal reporting. The information for the

" “Other” segment was restated for this change in 2003 and 2002

and, as a result, consists of only the health care operations in those
years. In 2004, the “Other” segment information primarily consists
of the health care operations, as well as certain, miscellaneous service
operations added in 2004.

Corporate assets are primarily the Equipment Operations’
prepaid pension costs, deferred income tax assets, other receivables
and cash and cash equivalents as disclosed in Note 29, net of
certain intercompany eliminations.

Because of integrated manufacturing operations and
conunon administrative and marketing support, a substantial
number of allocations must be made to determine operating
segment and geographic area data. Intersegment sales and
revenues represent sales of components and finance charges
which are generally based on market prices.




Information relating to operations by operating segment
in millions of dollars follows. In addition to the following
unaffiliated sales and revenues by segment, intersegment sales and
revenues in 2004, 2003 and 2002 were as follows: agricultural
equipment net sales of $88 million, $61 million and $54 million,
construction and forestry net sales of $11 million, $9 million and
none, and credit revenuesiof $216 million, $209 million and
$167 nullion, respectively. '

OPERATING SEGMENTS 2004 2003 2002

Net sales and revenues

Unaffiliated customers:
Agricultural equipment net sales .............
Commercial and consumer equipment

$ 9717 $7,390™$ 6,792

NELSAIBS vvviviv e e 3,742 3,231 2,712
Construction and forestry

NELSAIES . ovei e, 4214 2728 2,199

Total net SaleS ...vvees i 17,673 13,349 11,703

Credit revenues 1,276 1,347 1,426

Other revenues 1,037 839 818

TOW v $19,086 $15535 $13,047

** See following ™ note.

Operating profit (loss)*

Agricultural 8qUIPMENt .......covrrerieriienns $ 1072 § 320§ 397+
Commercial and consumer equipment.......... 246 227 79
Construction and forestry .......cccovviierreiinnnne 587 152 75)
Cradit™ ..o 466 474 386
O™ e e e 5 30 30

Total operating Profit.......c oo 2,376 1,212 817
Interest INCOME ........c.ocevvviiens s 64 59 66
Interest expense (205) (217 (223)
Foreign exchange loss from equipment

operations' financing activities............... (10) (12 (17)
Corporate expenses — Net ......cccccoovovierionnns (11 62) (66)
INCOMEB TAXES .. vvevvvivove e (708) 337)  (258)

L LET S (970) (569) (498)
Net INCOME ..o e $1406 $ 643 $§ 319

* In 2004 and 2003, there was|no goodwill amortization and the costs or income for

special items were not material. In 2002, the operating profit (oss) of the agricuttural

equipment, commercial and consumer equipment and construction and forestry

segments included pretax goobwil\ amortization of $27 million, $14 million and
$17 million, respectively, for a total of $58 million. In 2002, operating profit {ioss) of
the agricultural equipment, commercial and consumer equipment and construction

and forestry segments included expense for special items of $21 million, $24 million

and $27 million, respectively, for a total of $72 million (see Note 2).

** Years 2003 and 2002 were restated for sales of $41 million and $54 million, operating

losses of $8 million and $42 million and identifiable assets of $67 miltion and

$73 million, respectively, for the transfer of the special technologies group’s results
from the “Other” segment to the agricultural equipment segment. Other insignificant
restatements of the agricultural equipment segment information related to this
transfer were also made.

*** Operating profit of the credit Business segment includes the effect of interest
expense, which is the largest ;elemem of its operating costs, and foreign exchange
gains or losses. Operating prafit of the “Other” segment includes health care
investment income.

(continued)
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OPERATING SEGMENTS ’ 2004 2003 2002
Interest income*
Agricultural equUIpMENt ..o 6 % B $ 7
Commercial and consumer equipment. 5 4 5
Construction and forestry .......cocooeevivivennn, 8 8 7
CrBAIT™ oo e 992 1,000 948
Corporate 64 59 66
INEEICOMPANY™ ... e (241 (226} (187}
Total .o e $ 834 $ 851 $ 846

~ Does not include finance rental income for equipment on operating leases.
" Includes interest income from Equipment Operations for financing trade receivables.

Interest expense

Agricultural 8QUIDMENt” ......c...cveeeviier e $ 127 $ 133 $ 94
Commercial and consumer equipment” ........ 54 48 46
Construction and forestry™ ........c.oeeevivvis 24 19 18
Cradit oo 423 437 443
Corporate......... 205 218 223
Intercompany* (241) (226) (187)

TOW v s $ 592 § 629 $ 637

*Includes interest compensation to credit operations for financing trade receivables.

Depreciation” and amortization
expense ’

Agricuftural quUIDMent ......ccccovcoveeeiiriernenes $ 225 ¢ 213 § 232
Commercial and consumer equipment......... 73 69 81
Construction and forestry 65 60 82
Credite. v e e e 250 281 322
011 OOV 8 8 8
Total .. $ 621 $ 831 § 725
* Includes depreciation for equipment on operating leases.
Equity in income (loss) of
uncensolidated affiliates
Agricultural QUIDMENT .....ovovvvees e $ 2% @ % (0
Commercial and consumer equipment.......... ) (1)
Construction and forestry 12 {1
Credit .o e s 1 @
TOMAN .o $ 1% 9 $ (29
identifiable operating assets
Agricultural equIpmMent ..........coovvienriinnss $ 3145 $ 2778 % 2,948
Commercial and consumer equipment.......... 1,330 1,295 1,324
Construction and forestry ..o 1,970 1461 1,423
Credit . 15937 14,714 13,671
T (e 368 321 283+
COMPOTAE....evvevrerre v e 6,004 5,689 4,119
TOta oo s $28,754 $26,258 $23,768

** See previous ** note in the operating profit information.

{continued)




OPERATING SEGMENTS 2004 2003 2002 GEOGRAPHIC AREAS 2004 2003 2002
Capital additions , Property and equipment

Agricultural equipment c....oocoeevev e $ 246 $§ 205 $ 233 US. e $ 1328 $1297 $ 1,285
Commercial and consumer equipment.......... 64 71 62 GEIMANY......overrirer e e e 276 241 192
Construction and fOrestry .........ccovvvvrrearine 37 38 59 MEXICO . evv e e 200 215 217
Credit. v e 4 4 3 Other COUNMTES ...cvvevrnivrrrieriies v cenes e 358 323 304
QBT st st 14 2 ! TO. v $2162 $ 2076 $ 1,998

TOtAl e e e $ 365 $ 320 § 358

Investment in unconsolidated affiliates 28. SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

. Agricultural equipment........... R $ 18¢ 198 22 Quarterly information with respect to net sales and revenues and
Commercial and consumer equipment......... 4 6 6 earnings is shown in the following schedule. Such information is
gonittrut:tlon ANG FOMBSITY ovvevvvvrvn 81 16:73 14? shown in millions of dollars except for per share amounts.

TEAIL .. cevv e e
Other 1 1 First ~ Second  Third Fourth
""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""" Quarter  Quarter  Quarter  Quarter
TOta v $ 107 § 196 $ 181 2004 .
. .. . . Net sales and revenues ................ $3,484 . $5877  $5418 $5207
The company views and has historically disclosed its Income before income taxes............. 262 742 585 525
operations as consisting of two geographic areas, the U.S. and Net income.. oo 171 477 401 357
Canada, and outside the U.S. and Canada, shown below in Net income per share — basic.......... 70 193 161 144
millions of dollars. Operating income for these areas has been Net income per share — diluted....... 68 1.88 1.58 1.41
disclosed in addition to the requirements under FASB Statement Dividends declared per share.......... 22 28 28 28
No. 131. No individual foreign country’s net sales and revenues Dividends paid per share ................. 22 22 28 28
were material for disclosure purposes. ' 2003
GEOGRAPHIC AREAS 2004 2003 2002 Net sales and revenues ................... $2,794 $4,400 $4402 $3,939
Income before income taxes ............ 106 398 370 97
Net sales and revenues NGt INCOME. v 68 257 247 71
Unaffiiated customers: Net income per share — basic.......... 28 1.08 1.03 29
U.S. and Canada: Net income per share — diluted........ 28 107 102 27
Equipment Operations net sales 91%)*.. $12,332 $ 9,249 §$ 8,199 Dividends declared per share........... 22 29 29 29
Financial Services revenues (88%)*...... 1845 1,861 1,950 Dividends paid per share ............... 29 20 22 2
TOM e 14177 11,110 10148 Net income per share for each quarter must be computed independently. As a result,
Outside U.S. and Canada: : their sum may not equal the total net income per share for the year.
Equipment Operations net sales............ 5340 4100 3,504 i
Finaﬁcial SerE/ices (EVenues ... 24 165 127 Common stock per share sales prices ﬁ?m New York Stock
ol 5550 4265 3631 Exchange composite transactions quotations follow:
First Second  Thirg Fourth
Other MBVENUES ........ccoov v 255 160 167 Quarter Quarter Quarter  Quarter
TOtal e, $19,986 $15535 $13,947 -
‘ 2004 Market price
* The percentages indicate the approximate proportion of each amount that relates to HIGD e $67.41 $7493  $70.49 $65.95
the U.S. only and are based upon a three-year average for 2004, 2003 and 2002. Low .. $5920 $60.00 $60.60 $56.72
Operating profit 2003 Market price
U.S. and Canada; HIGN e $5160 $43.80 $4996 $60.75
Equipment Operations ...........ccc.vcevuan .. $1284 ¢ 386 $ 170 LOW. vt e $4130 $37.56 $4245 $48.25
FINANGIAl SBIVICES .. v 418 469 410 At October 31, 2004, there were 30,091 holders of record
TOMH v 1,702 855 980 of the company’s $1 par value common stock.
Qutside U.S. and Canada:
Equipmeﬂt ODf}rationS -------------------------- 621 322 231 Dividend and Other Events
Financial SErviCes. ... 53 35 6 A quarterly cash dividend of $.28 per share was declared at the
L0 TP 674 357 237 board of directors’ meeting held on December 1, 2004, payable
L6 O $ 2376 $1212 $ 817 on February 1, 2005.
" On December 1, 2004, the company’s board of directors
{continued) authorized the repurchase of up to $1 billion of company common

stock. Repurchases of company common stock under this plan
will be made from time to time, at the company’s discretion,
in the open market or through privately negotiated transactions.
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29. SUPPLEMENTAL CONSOLIDATING DATA

INGCOME STATEMENT :
For the Years Ended October 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
{In miltions of dollars)

Net Sales and Revenues

NEESAIBS ..ot e
Finance and interest income... .
Health care premiums and fe8S........ccoviovoricivceisencneniencnnnn,
OthBI INCOME 1.vvieicve et

Costs and Expenses

COSt OF SAIBS 1.ve ettt
Research and development BXDENSES .............veeriieriienrsoseesssrenns
Selling, administrative and genéral expenses ...
INTETESE BXDENSE ... vt et
Interest compensation to Financial SErVICeS ......ocvvvvviee e,
Health care claims and costs
Other 0perating BXPENSES... ... verviii e rieniiieessenr s ceseeseeiaas

income of Consolidated Group before
INCOME TAXES ...
Provision for iNCOME 1aXES.......iivevricrivicrerie e s

income of Consolidated Group ..o,

Equity in Income (Loss) of pnconsolidated
Subsidiaries and Affiliates
Credit

EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS*

2004 2003 2002
$ 17,6730 §$ 133491 $ 11,702.8
83.2 77.6 85.6
236.1 1453 146.0
17,992.3 13,572.0 11,8344
13,582.3 10,767.5 9,608.1
611.6 577.3 527.8
1,647.6 1,284.7 11535
205.0 2176 2229
205.1 1996 168.1
97.7 57.8 81.4
16,349.3 13,1045 11,751.8
1,643.0 4675 182.6
546.4 162.4 104.2
1,096.6 305.1 78.4
306.2 3105 243.0
33 215 2.2)
3095 338.0 240.8
$ 14061 $ 6431 § 3192

FINANCIAL SERVICES
2004 2003 2002

$1,3537 $1,4240 § 144086
784.8 683.1 6542
154.3 1453 167.3

22928 2,252.4 2,262.1

4771 466.3 510.2
423.3 4372 4431

650.3 536.1 5184
27114 309.0 370.3

1,822.1 1,748.6 1,842.0

470.7 503.8 4201
162.1 1745 154.1

308.6 329.3 266.0

6 2 (3.8)

6 4 (3.8)

$ 3092 $ 3297 $ 2622

i
* Deere & Company with Financial Services on the equity basis.

The supplemental consolidating data is presented for informational purposes. The “Equipment Operations” (Deere & Company with Financial Services on the
Equity Basis) reflect the basis of consolidation described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated group data in the “Equipment
Operations” income statement reflect the results of the agricultural equipment, commercial and consumer equipment and construction and forestry operations.
The supplemental “Financial Services” data represent primarity Deere & Company's credit and health care operations. Transactions between the “Equipment
Operations” and “Financial Services” have been eliminated 1o arrive at the consolidated financial statements.
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29. SUPPLEMENTAL CONSOLIDATING DATA (continued)

BALANCE SHEET
As of October 31, 2004 and 2003
{In miltions of doliars except per share amounts)

EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS*

ASSETS - 2004 2003
Cash and Cash BQUIVAIBNES ..........cco..vee e oo s ens st snas e $ 29151 $ 40093
Cash equivalents deposited with unconsolidated SubSIdIaNES .......c..ccevvveeriveeivverriivernne 224.4 278.1

Cash and casht BQUIVAIBTIES .. .....uv v e ee e s en 31395 4,287 .4
Marketahle SECUMHBS .......ccovvv e e et e
Receivables from unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates ..., 1,469.5 178.8
Trade accounts and notes receivable - net 781.5 646.1
FInancing receivabies = MEL .......c oo e 64.7 63.5
OFNET TECEIVADIBS . ... cvvs i ettt st st s 498.4 236.6
Equipment on operating leases - net 8.9 1.9
INVBNEOTIBS . .vvvevvr v vt ettt e e es e bbbt br s arai s en s 1,999.1 1,366.1
Property and 8QUIDMENE = NBL........v. e ettt 21123 2,0429
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates ...........ccoveeevveiienr e, 2,250.2 2,431.2
QOOGWII ...t 9736 871.9
Other intangible assets - net OSSP U USSP 21.6 2526
Prepaid PENSION COSES ........oviviiiiiriiirrisisteee ettt 24745 62.0
OENBY @SSBIS....ivvvvie it 206.2 195.0
DEfErTed INCOME TAXES ....covvveriies ettt e et et e 656.7 1,590.8
DEfITEA CRAMGES ...t e e bt s 86.8 784
TORAL ASSBES........ooviiiiie e et $ 16,7435 $ 14,3152
LIABILITIES AND STOGKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
LIABILITIES
SHOM-TEIMN BOMTOWINGS ...veovcevsveeres et et et cens s et $ 3119 $ 5770
Payables to unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliateS..........occcvrvvceieiiveiiecee i, 142.8 96.7
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 3,683.8 27715
Health care claims and FBSBIVES.........c.icer it eerciee e ettt
ACCTUBH TXES ..ottt et b 162.0 209.9
Deferred income taxes 359 1.5
LONG-tEIM BOMTOWINGS.....ov vttt e et eb bbb s e 27285 27215
Retirement benefit accruals and other Fabiliies ..., 3,285.8 3,919.0

TORAl ADIHES ...t e b e 10,350.7 10,313.1
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common stock, $1 par value (authorized — 600,000,000 shares;

issued — 268,215,602 shares in 2004 and 2003),

AL SEAIBA VAILE. ...ov et et 2,0435 1,987.8
Common stock in treasury, 21,356,458 shares in 2004

“and 24,694,170 shares in 2003, LTSt ..........o.coevoeriveer oo (1,040.4) (1,141.4)
Unamortized restricted Stock COMPENSALION...........c...vvrriverriverircreer s sesescenri e (12.7) (5.8)
REtAINEA BAMINGS ...\ vvrs et ettt en s et en s en e 5,445.1 4,329.5

TOMAL..... et ettt 6,435.5 51701
Minimum pension liability adiUSTMENT ... e (67.2) (1,078.0)
Cumulative transiation adjUSIMENT.........co.. e 9.1 (79.2)
Unrealized 1085 0N GEMVATIVES ........ovvvvreieeecentiieriiei et (6.4) (22.4)
Unrealized gain on iNVESIMENTS. ....cc..vveircvrs et esee s s enai 11.8 1.6

Accumulated other comprenensive iNCOmMe (10SS) ......vvvvvervirerrieerirss e 42.7) (1,168.0)

Total SOCKNOIAETS” BAUILY. ......cvverrir ettt e e 6,392.8 4,002.1
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ EQUItY ................cc.c.cc oo, $ 16,7435 $ 14,3152

FINANCIAL SERVICES
2004 2003
$ 2660 $ 3752
266.0 375.2
246.7 2318
7 2743
2,765.8 2,279.1
11,1679 9,910.7
164.6 1917
1,2880 1,369.9
49.4 327
41 38
2
R 2
18.6 6
300.1 339.4
3.2
237 221
$ 16,3047 $ 15,034.9
$ 31456 $ 37702
16763 419.4
631.0 640.7
1359 94.1
172 16.6
155.3 1372
8,361.9 7,676.7
339 408
14,157.1 12,7957
974.1 968.6
11427 12777
21168 22463
243 15
6.3 (20.2)
1.8 116
308 7.1)
21476 2,239
$ 16,304.7 $ 15,0349

* Deere & Company with Financial Services on the equity basis.

The supplemental consolidating data is presented for informational purposes. The “Equipment Operations” (Deere & Company with Financial Services on the
Equity Basis) reflect the basis of consolidation described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. The supplemental “Financial Services” data represent
primarily Deere & Company’s credit and health care operations. Transactions between the “Equipment Operations” and “Financiat Services” have been eliminated

to arrive at the consolidated financial statements.
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29. SUPPLEMENTAL GbNSOLIDATING DATA (continued)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended October 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(In millions of dollars)

EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS* i FINANCIAL SERVIGES
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Cash Fiows from Operating Activities
NEEINCOME ..vvovevrsir et e arse s cen s s e s anss $ 14061 $ 6431 § 3192 $ 3092 $ 3297 § 2622
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Provision for doubtful receivbles .............. 9.3 17.9 6.5 421 88.9 154.2
Provision for depreciation anp amortization 362.7 3416 3948 291.7 329.0 366.3
Undistributed earnings of unconsolidated subsidiaries
and affiliates ..o s iaes o es s e 156.2 (86.9) 156.2 ) (4 38
Pravision (credit) for deferred INCOME tBXES ......v....rvvvviverernriinns 3744 19.8 (19.2) 106 133 18.0
Changes in assets and liabilities: ,
Receivables (12,9 3386 1167 35.6 (42.5) (3.8) -
Inventories .........co.covvinnes v (293.6) 84.1 . 858
Accourtts payable and acErued EXPENSES. .......cowr.verr. v, 916.0 {162.0) 107.9 Q.0 (29.6) (4.2)
ORI e {1,435.0) 7.1 219.9 (26.3) 59 {26.3)
Net cash provided by operating activities ..o, 1,383.2 1,203.3 1,387.8 653.4 694.3 770.2
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Collections of receivabies ......... e e 37.0 115 8.7 - 24,0151 19,396.3 14,892.3
Proceeds from sales of financing receivables.............o.ovvoee v, 2,3336 1,941.0 2,967.8
Proceeds from maturities and ségles of marketable securities........... 66.7 6.4 754
Proceeds from sales of equipment on operating 18ases .................. 8 A 1.6 4436 5144 493.6
Proceeds from Sales Of DUSINESSES.........ccurervrvvervvrer s 90.4 225 53.5 : 2
Cost of receivables acquired......c......... (17.3) 4.2 (27.4) (27,864.3) (22,0115 (17,861.4)
Purchases of marketable securifies ........ (79.5) (118.2) (87.8)
Purchases of property and eqmpment (345.9) (303.4) (354.5) (18.0) 6.2 4.2)
Cost of operating leases acquwred .................... : 2.8) ®.1) (6571.1) (470.9) (481.8)
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired..........ccorerrerrne (1929 (10.6) 9.3 9.7
Decrease (increase) in receivables from uncansolidated affiliates ... 2743 (14.5 541
0]131) SH O U UTUOTUO TSP 34.4 94 80.3 (37.2) {39.3) (79.5)
Net cash provided by (Used for) investing activities ............ (393.5) 277.5) (253.2) (1,436.6) (732.5) 58.8
Cash Flows from Financing \Actwmes .,
Increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings .......cccovvee e, 63.3) (123.2) (304.6) (292.8) 250.1 (1,108.6)
Change in intercompany receivables/payanies ...........cc..... (1,656.1) 50.5 296 1,264.3 (563.2) (882.0)
Proceeds from long-term borrovx}ings ............................... 109 91 708.3 2,178.7 3,303.8 38654
Principal payments on long-term borrowings ............c.....c.... (267.4) (19.0) (75.9) (2,045.2) (2,523.7) (2,695.1)
Proceeds from issuance of commen StocK.........o....oovvrinn.. 250.8 174.5 48.0
Repurchases of CommOn StOCK..........c...ooevevrisiniienesrereres (193.1) (4 1.2
DIVIBENAS PAIL ... .evvoe ettt e (246.6) (210.5) (208.9) ] (444.2) (247.9) (399.5)
OHDBT. s (.4) (1.8) 1.5 2.7
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities............. (2,165.2) (120.8) 193.8 663.5 2191 (1,219.8)
Effect of Exchange Rate Chénges onCash..........ccocoeenns 27.6 53.1 2.3 10.5 18.0 78
Net Increase (Decrease) in cash and Cash Equivalents...... (1,147.9) 858.1 1,330.7 (109.2) 198.9 (398.49)
Gash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year................ 4,287.4 3429.3 2,098.6 - 3752 176.3 574.7
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year ... $ 31395 $ 42874 § 34293 $§ 2660 $ 3752 § 1763

* Deere & Company with Financial Services on the equity basis.
*Primarily related to pension and other postretirement benefits in 2004.

The supplemental consolidating data is presented for informational purposes. The “Equipment Operations” (Deere & Company with Financial Services on the
Equity Basis) reflect the basis|of consolidation described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. The supplemental “Financial Services” data represent
imari i i i “Equipment Operations” and “Financial Services” have been eliminated

to arrive at the consolidated financial statements.
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DEeere & COMPANY
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(Dollars in millions except per share amounts)

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995

Net sales and revenues........o.....couroeeerineer. $19,986 $15535 $13,947 $13293 - $13,137 $11751 $13,822 $12,791 $11,229  $10,291
NEt SIBS ..ot 17,673 13,349 11,703 11,077 11,169 9,701 11926 11,082 9,640 8,830
Finance and interest iNCOME .......c..covovicrreri e, 1,186 1,276 1,339 1,445 1,321 1,104 1,007 867 763 660
Research and development expenses................... 612 577 528 590 542 458 445 412 370 327
Selling, administrative and general expenses ........ 2,117 1,744 1,657 1717 1,505 1,362 1,309 1,321 1,147 1,001
INterest EXPENSE ..o oo e 592 629 637 766 677 557 519 422 402 393
Income {loss) before goodwill amortization ........ 1,406 643 372 (13) 526 264 1,036 978 828 713
Goodwill amortization — after-tax .............c...... 53 51 40 25 15 18 w7
Net INCOME (10SS) wvvvvvveernreireririvenrionerr v 1,406 643 319 {64) 486 239 1,021 960 817 706
Return on net Sales ..o 8.0% 4.8% 2.7% {-6)% 4.3% 2.5% 8.6% 8.7% 8.5% 8.0%
Return on beginning stockholders’ equity ......... 35.1% 20.3% 8.0% (1.5)% 11.9% 5.9% 24.6% 27.0% 26.5% 27.6%

Income (joss) per share before goodwill ‘ ‘
amontization — DasiC........cccvvveeiiinrinieens $ 5690 $ 268 $ 156 $ (05 $ 224 $ 114 $ 426 $ 38 § 318 § 274

Net income (loss) per share — basic .................. 5.69 2.68 1.34 (27) 207 1.03 4.20 3.78 314 2.71
Net income (loss) per share — diluted.................... 5.56 2.64 1.33 (27) 2.06 1.02 416 3.74 3N 2.69
Dividends declared per shar€.........co.coveevivienenen. 1.06 .88 .88 .88 .88 .88 .88 .80 .80 75
Dividends paid per Share ..........cocovenvcvercreivernnne 1.00 .88 .88 .88 .88 88 .86 - .80 .80 134
Average number of common
shares outstanding (in millions} - basic .......... 2472 2402 238.2 235.0 2343 2329 2433 2837 260.5 260.5
- diluted........ 253.1 2433 240.9 236.8 236.0 2344 2457 256.6 263.2 262.5
Total BSSEIS......vvver e s $28,754 $26,258 $23,768 $22,663 $20469 $17578 $18,002 $16320 $14,653 $13,847
Trade accounts and notes receivab]e — Nt - 3,207 2,619 2734 2,923 3,169 3,251 4,059 3,334 3,183 3,260
Financing receivables — Net........c..coocveivienverninns 11,233 9,974 9,068 9,199 8,276 6,743 6,333 6,405 5912 5345
Equipment on operating leases — net ............oovve. 1,297 1,382 1,609 1,939 1,954 1,655 1,209 775 430 289
IVBNMOMIES ... s 1,999 1,366 1,372 1,506 1,553 1,294 1,287 1,073 829 721
Property and equipment — Net...........coovcvvreerieeene 2,162 2,076 1,998 2,052 1912 1,782 1,700 1,624 1,352 1,336
Short-term borrowings: ‘
Equipment Cperations...........ccoevvvivniceennn 312 577 398 773 928 642 1,512 171 223 396
Financial SErVICES ...........cnrrievrnsierneceven e 3,146 3,770 4,039 5,425 4,831 3,846 3,810 3,604 2,921 2,744
TOMAD .ot 3,458 4347 . 4437 6,198 5759 4,488 5,322 3,775 3,144 3,140
Long-term borrowings: .
Equipment Operations ............ccoooceerineeornnns 2,728 2,727 2,989 2,210 1,718 1,036 553 540 626 703
Financial SErvices ........couveveen oo 8,362 7,677 5,961 4,351 3,046 2,770 2,239 2,083 1,799 1,473
TOMAl oo s 11,000 10,404 8,950 6,561 4,764 3,806 2,792 2,623 2,425 2,176
Total stockholders’ eQUItY «...vvvverrcconiinvivernionninne 6,393 4,002 3,163 3,992 4,302 4,094 4,080 4147 3,557 3,085
Book value per share ............ R——— $2590 $1643 $1324 $1682 $1834 §$1751 $1756 $ 1657 §$ 1383 $11.78
Capital BXPenditUreS......co...evrvererceercennrisns e $ 364 $ 313 $ 38 $ 495 § 419 $ 308 $ 438 § 492 § 277 $ 263
Number of employees (at year end) ..., 46,465 43221 43,051 45063 43670 38726 37,002 34420 33919 33375




STOCKHOLDER INFOYRMATIUN
|

ANNUAL MEETING

The annual meeting of companv stockholders will be held

at 10 a.m. on February 23, 2005, at Deere & Company World

Headquarters, One John Deeré Place Moline, lllinois.

TRANSFER AGENT & REGISTRAR
Send address changes, cernﬁca}es for transfer and inquiries
concerning lost, stolen or desrrm ed stock certificates or

dividend checks to: :

Deere & Company '

¢/oThe Bank of New York |

Receive & Deliver Dept. - 11w

P.O. Box 11002, Church Street Station,

New York, NY 10286

Phone toll-free: 1-800-26817369
From outside the U.S., call! (610) 382-7833
TTY: 1-888-269-5221 ° !

www.stockbny.com

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT &

DIRECT PURCHASE PLAN

Investors may purchase initial Deere & Company shares
and automatically reinvest dividends through The Bank
of New York's BuVDlRECTW Ple‘m Automatic monthly
cash investments can be made through electronic debits.

For inquiries about existing reinvestment accounts, call
the toll-free number above, or|write to:

Deere & Company - DRP

c/0 The Bank of New York

P.O. Box 1958

Newark, NJ 07101-9774
For enrollment information onl_‘,, call toll free
1-800-727-7033.

STOCKHOLDER RELATIONS

Deere & Company welcomes your comments:
Decre & Company
Stockholder Relations Department
One John Deere Place, Moline, IL 61265-8098
Phone: (309) 765-4539 Fax (309) 765-5671

www. JohnDeere.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS !
Securities analysts, portfolio managers and representatives

NS |
of financial institutions may contact:

Marie Ziegler

Vice President, Investor Re]atlons

Deere & Company

One John Deere Place, Molmc IL 61265-8098
Phone: (309) 765-4491

www, JohnDeere.com

STOCK EXCHANGES

Deere & Company common stock is listed on the New York
and Chicago Stock Exchanges 1 under the ticker symbol DE,
and on the Frankfurt, Germam Stock Exchange under the
ticker symbol DCO. ‘

ForMm 10-K I

The Form 10-K annual report|to the Securities and Exchange
Commission will be available o‘nline in January, or upon writ-
ten request to Deere & Comp"any Stockholder Relations,
AUDITORS ‘

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chicago, Illinois

CERTIFICATIONS REGARDING PUBLIC
DISCLOSURES & LISTING STANDARDS

Deere has filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission

as exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to its Form 10-K for the year ended
Qctober 31, 2004, the ceruﬁcauon required by Section 302 of
the Sarbanés-Oxley Act regardmg the quality, of the company's
public disclosure, In addition, the anmual; céttification of the Chief
Executive Officer regarding compliape€ by Deere with the corpo-
rate governange listing standard§ of the New York Stock Exchange
was submitted without quahﬁcauon to the New York Stock Ex-
change following the| Febmar) 2004 annual shareholder meeting,

B

CORPORATE LEADERSHIP

ROBERT W. LANE (23)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

James R. JENKINS (4)
Senior Vice President and General Counsel

NATHAN ]. JONES (26)
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

JaMEs M. FieLp (10)

Vice President and Comptroller

MERTROE B. HORNBUCKLE (29)

Vice President, Human Resources

KenNETH C. HuHN (29)

Vice President, Industrial Relations

THoMAS K. JARRETT (16)
Vice President, Taxes

CurTis G, LiNkEe (7)

Vice President, Corporate Communications

DanieL C. McCaBE (30)

Vice President, Information Technology

MICHAEL ]. MACK, JR. (18)

Vice President and Treasurer

ROBERT E. MouLbs (34)

Vice President, Engineering

WiLLiam F. NORTON (4)
Vice President, Worldwide Supply Management

Dennis R. SCHWARTZ (37)
Vice President, Pension Fund and Investments

CHARLES R. STAMP, JR. (5)
Vice President, Public Affairs Worldwide

MARIE Z. ZIEGLER (26)

Vice President, Investor Relations

JaMmes H. BEcHT (25)

Corporate Secretary and Associate General Counsel

GARY L. MEDD (38)

Director, Internal Auditing

LinDA E. NEWBORN (32)
Chief Compliance Officer

OPERATING OFFICERS
WORLDWIDE AGRICULTURAL OPERATIONS

Davip C. EVERITT (29)

President, Agricultural Division - Europe, Africa,
Middle East, South America and Global Harvesting
Equipment Sourcing

Max A. GuINN (24)

Senior Vice President, Manufacturing and Engineering,
Global Harvesting Equipment

JAMES A. ISRAEL (25)

Vice President, Marketing and Product Support -
Europe, Africa & Middle East

H.]. MARKLEY (30)

President, Agricultural Division - North America,
Australia, Asia and Global Tractor and Implement Sourcing

DougLas C. DEVRIES (30)

Senicr Vice President, Agricultural Marketing -
North America, Australia & Asia

ADEL A. ZAKARIA (28)

Senior Vice President, Manufacturing and Engineering,
Global Tractor and Implement Sourcing

WORLDW!DE CONSTRUCTION & FORESTRY
AND WORLDWIDE PARTS

PIERRE E. LEROY (28)

President, Worldwide Construction
& Forestry Division and Worldwide Parts Division

ROGER L. BRIDGES (32)
Vice President, Hitachi Joint Venture

Bog B. BROCK (26)

Senior Vice President, Worldwide Construction
Sales and Marketing

BaRRY W. SCHAFFTER (31)

Senior Vice President, Engineering and Manufacturing
Worldwide Construction & Forestry Division

ERIC P. HANSOTIA (16)
Vice President, Forestry Equipment
Worldwide Construction & Forestry Division

DIETER HECHT (36)

Vice President, Worldwide Parts Services

WORLDWIDE COMMERCIAL &
CONSUMER EQUIPMENT

JoHN J. JENKINS (37)
President, Worldwide Commercial &
Consumer Equipment Division

DaNIEL J. REILLY (39)

Senior Vice President, Manufacturing
and Product Development

RoBerT C. HOVE (25)
Vice President, Worldwide Sales

VIVIEN H. JOKLIK (3)
Vice President, Worldwide Marketing & Order Fulfillment

DaviD P. WERNING (28)
President, John Deere Landscapes

SERVICE OPERATIONS

SAMUEL R. ALLEN (29)

President, Global Financial Services, John Deere
Power Systems and Corporate Human Resources

Jo~ D. VOLKERT (10)
President, John Deere Credit

JAMES R. JABANOSKI (24)
Senior Vice President, Equipment Lending, U.S. & Canada

STEPHEN PULLIN (10)
Senior Vice President, International Financing

LAWRENCE W. SIDWELL (5)
Senior Vice President, Agricultural Financial Services

JEAN GILLES (24)

Senior Vice President, John Deere Power Systems

RICHARD L. BARTSH (12)
President, John Deere Health

() Figures in parentheses represent complete years of
company service through 1/1/05; officers as of 1/1/085.

AMS, Gator, GreenStar, fohn Deere, fohn Deere Credit, John
Deere Landscapes, Pro-Series, STS, Timberjack and Z-Trak are
trademarks of Deere & Company’s products and services named
in this repor. '
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Jonn R. Brock (18) LEONARD A. HaADLEY (10) JoacHiM MILBERG (1)
Executive Vice President and Prosident Retired President and Chief Executive Officer Chairman, Supervisory Board
Wholesale Division Maytag Corporation Bayerische Motoren Werke (BMW) A.G.
Food Marketing Tnstitute appliances motor vehicles
trade association
Dipax C. JAaIN (2) THoMAS H. PATRICK (4)
Cranpair C. Bowies (8) Dean, Kellogg School of Management Retired Executive Vice Chairman
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DEUIVERING GROWTH THROUGH ADVANCED
HARVESTING TECHNOLOGY, THE 375-HP
9860 STS COMBINE IS ONE OF JOHN

- DEERE'S LARGEST AND MOST POWERFUL

0 MODELS. [JEERE FARM MACHINERY SALES

- SURGE 31% FOR YEAR.

DRIVING MARKET SHARE GROWTH
IN CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT ARE
NEW PRODUCTS SUCH AS THE 6504
CRAWLER DOZER. C&F SALES CLIMB
54Y; FOR YEAR, VWHILE OPERATING
PRGHT BEACHES RECORD $587 MILLION.

SUPPORTING SALES GROWTH OF MORE
PRODUCTIVE JOHN DEERE EQUIPMENT,
THE POPULAR BREENSTAR AUTOTRAC
ASSISTED STEERING SYSTEM GUIDES
MACHINERY IN THE FIELD WITH SINGLE-
INCH PRECISION. OFFFRED BY DEere
A MANAGEMENT SoLuTIonS (AMS),
AUTOTRAC USES GPS TECHNOLOGY.

TARGETING GROWTH WITH KEY
NEW CUSTOMERS, THE T-SERIES
GATIR {AvAILABLE 2005} OFFzRS
INCREASED SPEED, POWER AND
COMFORT. C&UE SALES RISE
16%, 70 RECORD $3.7 BILLION,

- STHONGER MARKETS, NEW FRODUCTS PROPEL
DEEE EARNINGS TO REEERD (e = $1.4 BIuoN.
SaES U $2% WITH GARS FRER ALL THAEE
EOVBMIENT DISIONS.

- TRADE MEEEVABLES & INVENTORIES CONTINUE
DOWDWAED TREND (79 RELATION T8
ASSET TURNS (NERZASE TO 24 TIMES,

> PLANS ANNOUNGES FOR NEW SB0 Mo
TRACTOR BASTORY 1N BRAZIL, ENHANCING
DEEE'S POSITION () GROWING BRAZILAN
EARM SECTOR.

- LINE OF FUEL-EFRCIENT, POWERFU
ENBINES N @
TiEn 1) BISSIoNS STANBARES,

o Jor Desne CREsT REPORTS NET INGOWE
0F SHUB NMILLIBR; MANABED PORTEOLD
SHOWS EROWTH 0F $2.7 BILBN.

- DIEERE NAMED AMONG NATIEN'S TER=TEN
PRACTICES BY CITizeNs ABVISERS, A
PROMINENT RVESTMENT FRN

|



